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Gretel Hirschen BSide 1, paze 1 000 Interviewer: Lucille | rown

L.B. ...working, 1-2-3-working, l-2-3-working...(Tape off), Now, Gretel, if
you will tell me your name,..now,

G.,H., Gretel Hirschen,

L.B., Gretel Hirschen. And what was your maiden name?

G.H, Wolf, W-o-1-f,

L.B., 0.K.; we would say Wolf.

G.H. Wolf,

L.B., And, you were born, what year?

1.9". 19':--

March, 1914,

A1l right, and,..

which makes me..,Yah, yah, greﬂt...(laughter)

And, you were born...

You're better in math than I am, s¢ you can figure it out., I was & bora...
And, in the town oi...

Offenbach-onmﬁhine, in Germany.

In Germany, all right., Now, soms of the information about Offenrbach, uh,
we got from your husband, but I'd like you to tell me what you remember. You
know, for example, how many people were there in your family?

G.H. My parents, and a brother and sister, we were 3 children,

L,B. 3 children,

G.H. Yeha,

L.B., And whe was the oldest?

G.H. My sister.

L.B, And then?

G.He After € years, my brother.

L.B., Mm hm,

G.H. ©Oh no, um, well, and uh, 8 yesrs...betwesn my brother and myself, or
something like this,

L.B, All right, and um,,,could you tell me what your father did for a livieg?
G.H. He had, he had, a factory of um, um, you know, to Diapare tTQSP&US? tai
linens, um, comfloerters, uh,.. i :

L.B. Tablecloths?

G.H, Tablecloths...

L.B. And napkins...

G.Hm Yahl‘ ya'h! yah.

1.B. Now, you, he didn*t make the cloth?

G.H., DNo, no, no,

L.B. He, they sewed,.. _

G,H., Uh, they were, they were manufacturef%y and he uh.,.this wag his business.,
L.B. S0 he was a manufacturer”?

G.H. Really not a manufacturer, he had a business of -hls kind, 1 mean, he...
served, it wasn't, it was like a stoxe..,

L.B. “911;00

G.H. I mean, a store, to, to sell, um, domestic linens,

L.B. Now, he didn't make these, then?

G.,H, HNo, sold themnm,

L.B. 0O.K., 50 he s0ld them retall, he sold them to the public,

G.H. Correct, yeah.

L.,B. Now, 4id he have people working for him?

G.H. Yeah,

L.B, About how meny people?

G.H, ©h, thoere was...2 men and a woman,

L.B, ¥Were they Jewish or not Jewlsh?
G,H
L
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o Ummm, the woman and one man,....the wvoman wag Jewlsh, the 2 men were not,
B. Mu hm, (Fause)., And, was, was it a big store? How, about how,..
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G.H, It was really not an cpen store, it was like a store, as we know, what
you would call a store, it was, um...well, it was a building, aad, uh, 1t
didn't have & display in front, let's put it this way.

L.B, Was it more like a warehouse?

G.H, BSZomething of this kind, yeah.

L.B. Was it more than one story high?

G.H. Um, uh, no, it was a very large place, but one, all on one floor,

L.B. All on one floor,

G.H. Yah,

L.B., And he was the owner, of the buslness?

G.H, Right, right,

L.B. V¥as he in partnership with anyone?

G,H. No, ha wasn*t.

L.B., Yo, And did your mother also work with him?

H. HNo, she 4id not,

B, &She did not?

H. ©Ho, no,

B. HNow, uh,..what kind of, uvh, house did you live in?

G.H. An apartment house.

L.B. And, about how many, what was 1it, a wooden apartment house?

G.H, No, they wore, they were the imli; uh, not like, uh, uh, high-rise, we
know now, but, uh, this was an apartment houge about & floors...

L.B. Yeahe

G.H. And, uh, consisted of.....uh, you know, it's, it’s a large, a largar
apartment, it really, it's, it's quite different than heve,

L.B. Explain it.

G.H. O.K.7

L,B, Yeah, _

G.H. Yeu, uh,; walk throush a big entran,,.uh, a glass entrance, and there
was & long, long hallway, and from the haliway all the rooms weni off, like,
a livingroom and a diningroom and ancther iivingroom and...you know, you nad
different @rooms in Germany, you would call another llvingroom, 1like, a'hevitsisms,
nherrn means l?a m.a.n”. ‘l S : :

L.B. YBS.
G.H., Mnd, llike a smoking roonm,
:{JOB. YeSl

G.H, You know, you had different furniture in this particular room, as you

had in, 1n the livingroom, (dd, dossn'it it sound?

L.B, How, what was it, yeah, vhat ras it uged for? This is the kind of thing

I want to hear, because, men don*t pay attention to these things,

G.H. Yeah, you know, this room was really fi,,.and not only my parents, I mean,
this was just a common, sccebted, uh, that's the way it eas. The furniture were
all leather,

L.B., Hm hm,

G.H, Like a sofa, and 2, 3 heavy easy.,.chairs, in leathesr, round table with
ashtrays, and then, uh, which a% the same time, uh, library, many boods in it
oy other, more masculine, it was furnished more masculine than, uh, the
livingyoom was,

L.B, Now, was i1 used?

G.H., Of course.

L.B., Now, who used it? Your father?

G.H, Uh,..

L,B. Did the women ever use it?

G.H. Now, for instance...yeh., 1 would, or, 1t could mamybe he compared wiih

a den, what we call here a den or fanily room, However, in addition to this,

ye had a family moom, where we ate,..whilch was just a general room, Hey, .isten,
I don’t want to give you a big story here, you know..,

L.B. HNo, that's what I want, For instance, what, I want to know, for example,
did your father play cards with friends?

ok e ars
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Yah, for Instance,

So he would use the herrn...

Correct, coxrect.

The herrntsimme/,.?

Yah, herrntsimme;. yeah,

Herrntsimme, for that roon,
. Right, right.

bid he emtertaln business friends?

Ne.

No,

Ch, uh, uh, yes, occasionally, too, I would agsume,

. Now, if he did that, would he use that room, or the other?
G.H. Right, right, right. It's just not a room where you ate in, or, um...
L.,B., How often wag it used, was 1t used every day, or once a week, or?
G.H. Uh, this I couldn't...whenever, vou know, it wasn't forbidden for =nvbody
in the family to go in and be there,
L.B. Yeah, yeoah.
G.H. And, for insiance, you also had a room,.,which, you know, it sounds 59
silly, a room which you would call a salon, it's not a saloon.,.
L.B. No,
G.H, Bui spelled, it's spelled g-a-l-o0-n, ail this was really the best room
in, uh, in the apartément, this was only used when out-of-town company cams,
(Laughs).
L.B, #And they visited ian that yoom,
G.H, Right, It wes really a, a specialty, it's so, it's really ridiculous,
L,B, No, because the English had something like that, they, well, the Franch
had a salon, and the Inglish had a drawéngroom,
G.JH. Drawingroom, that's right,
L.B, $So it would be,..
G.H. A drawingroom, wouldn't this be adjacent to a bedroom?

. & * = 5 a8 w & =
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L,B, No, I don*t think so,

G.H., Yeah, drvawilngroom, you're right,

LB, I think a dressingroom would be adjacent to a hedroom, but,..

G.H. A& dressingroom, that's right. _

L.B. Yah, a drawl...it seems to me, from my readinz, that a drawlrgyoonrn nuemid
be more like a, a salon,

G.H, Right, right.

L.B. And that would have the best furniture.

G.H. Correct. e

L.B. So you had a, a 1ivingroom, you had a herrisimme; you had a salon...
G.,H. A diningroom,,.

L,B., Anmd you had & dinlngroom,

G.H. Yah, and then we had.,,

L.B., Separate from the family room?

G,H. From the family room. And then you had another little room, which veally

- could,,.be equivalent to a‘breakragt @i .

LB, Mm ym, And then you had a kitchen?

G,H. Yeah.

L.B. Did you ever eat in the kitchen?
G.H, No,

L.B., 8o, uh, how big was your kitchen?

G.H, It was just not customary in uh, uh, teo eat in the kitchen.

L.B. All right, so fithe kiichen was used for what?

G.H, To cook in.,.,that’s all,

L.,B. Now, uh, what about washing clothing and stuff?

G.H, Oh, the clothing.....was, un.,.cach houge had, um..,facilities to washa..
do the washing, downstalrs, I mean, in the cellar.

L.,B., Hm hm, -
G.0, Because washing wasn't something llke you do here, every day, you «id

this maybe every 2, 3 weeks,
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L.B, DIMm hm,

G.H., And it was a big, blg procedure to, to have a washing, you had, ub, ¢
people employed for that, you had your.,.lady, coming in to gtake care of »
washing, you had another lady coming in, do the ironing,

L.BE. Mm hm,

G,H, And, it was, an entirely different process, now, I'm tslking,..35 ysurs
back, 1t has changed since, naturally,

L.B., 30 that would be, 35, would make 3t about 19407

G.H. Right. We left, we left...in Janwary, *36, we married in December, 'J5,
left January, °36, And that's, what I°m saying now, is the way I left it. Ho
ito L]

L.B. The mid-*30s.

G.H. Now, no doubt, they have also facilities,

L,B. Yeah, yeah, but that's, I, I want to know about at that time, that, :hen
you remembey,

G.H. Yeah, yeah,

L.B. So, uh, was your,; um, apartment all on one floor?

¢.H., Yeah,

L.B. DPEach apartment took up an entire floor? Now, uh, so far, I think wa've
had 7 rcoms, you have a livingroom, a salon, a herrnts 1mne;;fam11y Yoom, , .
G.H., Diningroom,

L.B. ...a kitchen, a diningroom...that's 6, now you had befroonms,

G.M. And 3 hedrooms.,

L.B., 3 bedrooms, so you had 9 rooms?

G.H., And one batkroom,

L.B. And a bathroom. Now, what was there in the bathroum? You had a tollet,
G.H. Tub,

L.B., Tub, 80 you had, uh, nlumbing?

G.H., Ch yes,

L,B, You had plumbing?

G.H. Iaba,,.lab...un.,.lavatory, what do you..,

L.B, lavatory, right. Did you have hot and cold water, or just cold?

G.H. Yeah, but very, vh.,,,..this is what still impresses me, here in this
country, you open a faucet and you have warm water., We had to heat the hot,
the warm water...we had & hig, ofen...

L.B. A tank,
G.H. A tank,
L.B., Yeah,

CG.,H. Well, yah,..

L.B, And then, when you turned..,

G.H, Yah, which was heated by gas,

L.B, ¥m hn,

G.H. You cooked on gas, of course, too, but this hot water tank was different
ag we have 1t here, a lopng, round thing; it was an ogmn, um, . the tank we have
here really have the water, don’t they, in it?

L.B, 7Yes, as far as I know, yes.

G.H., Yah, you know?

L.B. Yah,

G.H, That's what we have in the house, here, you know, a verticil, big...
1.B, Like a cylinder,

G.H, Yah, cylinder,

L.B, DHNow, that wasn't like that in Germeny?

G, No, no, in Germany you kad an oven, which was about, maybe, 3 feei Uy

5 feetoco

L.B. limn hm, )

G, H, It was aliopp< ¥oove -

L.B, Yeah.

G.H, #nd it was lit, 1t always had a pilot light,
L,B. Uh huh,
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G.H., And when you needed warm water, you terned it on, and then, it, &it
heated the water in the pipe.”

L.B. Yeah, I see,

G.H, It wasn't as easy.

L.B. So #it was not antomatic?

G.H. ©Oh ne¢, no,

L.B., Right. BBut the cold water was,

G.H. 1Yes,

L.B. 0O.K. And you had electricity?

G.H. Yah, Coming back to this, um, water heater, you know, of course vyou knod,
after each meal you nedded hot water, you know, you needed water 1o tan- a2
bath, You didn't take a bath every night, there, because it was just a b,

a big procedure to do, maybe.,.really, ve ewere clean, I can massure you, Lub
it wasn't...

L.B, Well, it was like that here, too, you know?

G.H., 4And I'm, that's what I'm stil}, believe me, I'm still, to the veryv d~y,
impressed, to go at any time into the kitchen or bathroom and turn on tiw=
water, and here I have,.,.l cogdldn't believe it, when we arraved here,

LB, IMm hm,

G.H. HNowhere in BEurope. Bui, over 30, 35 years, a great deal has changed, it
really has.

L.B., Yes, yes. 5o, uh, your mother, did your mother have a, a woman that
stayved in, lived in? And, what was her function, this woman who lived in”
What did she do?

G.H., What, UM,eess’

L,B, Did she cook?

G.H. Un, partly, my mother also,..

L.B, Uhat else did she do? .

G.H. Well, cleaned the house, and uh,,..,.you know, really, uh,,.for in<tence,
there was a set day in the sweek where all,..the runners have been cleaved,
the...the rugs... I i il «

L.B. The rws, 4

G.H. The rugs,

L.B. Yeah, yeah,

G.H. You know?

LtB- YeSa

G.H., They wers all rolied up, brought dowmstalrs, and we had big iron barcs
in the yaxl, and beat them with those, this,..this was way before your tine, lou,
L.B. No, I know,

G.H., Beat them...

LB, #With a stick,

G.H., Peat the dust out of them, yeah, you know,it was like wicker...

L.B. Yes, uh, wicker, almest like a fan,

G.H. 7Yah, yah,

L.B. 1I've seen them.

G.H., S0, this was done, let's say, on, on Wednesday; on, on a Tnmrsday,
where you opened & window, this was all copper, and s0 were the doorknois, .,
L.B. Dbm hm, yes,

G.H. 8o they wers cleaned on this particulsxy day. There was a, every day
something elsew to...

L.B. All right, well, go through the week, that's what I want to know. For
example, .,

G.H. mxactly, I don't remember, but,..

..B. VWell, was there one day for baking?

G.,H., Well, Friday was the, Friday was the blg cooking day.

L.B. ¥m hm,

GJH. I come from a rather, uh, not Orthodox, but,.,religious howe,

L,B, Fm hm,
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G.H. There was Just no cocking done on a Saturday.

L.B. Yes,

G.H. 8¢, Friday was the blg cooking day.

L.B, 4nd, what, wwh, generally, would they cook? Now, did the, did the n=ai:l
do the cooking, or did your mother do the cooking?

G.H., No, wmy, both, you know,

L.B. Both,

G.H. Yah, yah,

L.B., And what kind of things did they cook for a Friday night meal?

G.H. Well, for instance..,vh...I felt like ii...was Fassover, thls night is
different from all other nights...{laughs),

L.B. On every Friday night, right?

G.H, HNo, you see, in, in, unm..,Burope, as a matter of fact, in Israel you
observe this, also,.,uh, you eat your warm meal at nonn-time, and at nighti,
what we call lunch,

L.B. Yes, ,

G.H, Fridays, is different, we eat..,a cBld meal, or a lighter meal in tne
afternoon, and Friday nights we had...,a complete dinner,

L,B, HNow what would a, a, a, an EreX/Shabbat dinner be like, what would it be?
G.H. Well, a fish, soup...

L.B, What kind of soup?

G.H, Chicken or, a, chicken, chicken was much more of a delicacy over ihere
than here, Uh,.,.

L.B. Mmm, What kind of fish would you have?

G.H. Also, uh, oh, there is cod, that's the one, I sknow..,

L.B. Was it boiled? Or...

G.H., Boiked, usually, yeah,

L.B., Boiled;, mm hm,

G.H. #nd, uf, either eaten c¢old or, or warm, you know, And then, a soup,
elther, um, a beef soup, or chicken soup, and then there was some...l veally
don't know what you call this, it's, it's, it's like a...um...it's like a, 2
cor, ..not 2 ¢orn, well, a thinner vegetable scup, meybe, with noodies in it,
you kpow, something of this kind, Well, then you, we had meat, and,..

L,B, that kind of meat would you have?

G.,HK. ©Oh, uh, maybe, mainly beef,

L.B, Wou,,,wmould, would,..

G.H., Veal.

L.B, ...the cooking be German, in siyle? It wouldn'’t be what we, uh, whab uh,
uh, vou know, an Eastern Buropean Jew might eat. It would be, I mean, liks,
for example,..

x.H. HNo, that's typlcal, sure.

L.B. You would have Gerwan ty...style cooking?

G.H. Yah, like chopped 1liver...

L.B, 41l right,

G.,H. Or, uh, you, you name some, and I, um,..

L.B, Well, for example, did your mother make saurbraunten?
G.H. Yah.

L,B. She did%?

G,H, Yah, well that®s a German type of cooking,

L.B. That's right.

G.H. Right, yeah,

L.B. So, in other words, instead of, of, of what we c¢a...uh, other Jews would
call a pot roast, they would make it with the vinegar, they would marinate it
in vinegar, and s0 on?

G.H. Right, right,

L,B. And they would serve it with the red cabbage?

G.H, Right, right,

L,B, I8 that correct?
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GnHl
L.BO
G‘Ht
What,
LQB.
G’nHC
LUBO
GQHQ
LoBa
G.Hl
IIOBO

That's right. Uh, I'm sorry tc interrupt you...
Ho,
+oabtlty, you know what was a common, uh, plece of meat on a Friday uleil?

what is called here brizket...

Yes,

Is a plece of flanken.,,

Yes,

In Burope, and the flanken glves you a good soup.
Right. _

S0 it wasg not rcasted, it was really boiled,
Bolled. And then you would have vegetables with it? What kind of

vepetables? Do you remember? Did you eat,

G'H.

Um...well, like, like, uh, anything, um,,.during the asparagus time,

for instance, there was nothing but asparagusjy but, no can, you know, we didn'tl
canned food there, this was all fresh vegetables, So, according what was in

sSeason,

L.B. Now, what kind of,..

G,H., Like peas, or beans, or beeis, carrois, according to season,

L.B. Did you, did, uh, was the, uh, were the vegetables served with sauces,

were they heavy on sauces, or just,,,

G.H. No, never,..never,

L.B., ...a sort of a,..

G.,H, Just plaln,

L.,B, FPlain, and maybsz with what? Butter?

G.H. Cooked, Like we have a, we had a gravy, for Instance, with the pot roast
we had a gravy.

L.B. YESc

G.H. But I don't, they, we weren't as gravy conscious as, uh, as I think we
are here,

L.B, Mm hm,

G.H. All the people have gotiten away from gravies.

L.B., You think so?

G.H, Don't you?

L,B, Idon®t, I don't know., I'm not, I'm not much.,.of a cook,

G.H. Lu, let me put, uh, say one thing, I think we ate plalner, nuch plainewr...
L.B, HMm,

G.H., ...than we eat here, loss rich.

LB, feec, that's swhat I, you know, the things that happened in the hone,

people don't know.,.what kind of a meal wouwld be, or, common, for a Germsn
Jewish family to sit down to, a Friday night meal, Did you have a chalabi”
Did you ever use that?

G‘ .Hl
LnBo
G.H.
L'B.
G lH.
L.B.
G.H.
week,
LB,
Gi}{i
LcBa
G.H.

Yeah, my mother baked most of the time,

She did?

Yeah, It was much smaller,

Yeah, Now, uh, did she shop every day, or...

tUmmin, o

How did she get her food?

Well, due to the lack of ref...refrigeration, you couldn't shop onca a

Right,

That's your answer.

So, was there a place to keep the food?

Well, we had a, a, an lcebox, we had a, a, as a matter of fact, during

the wi,.,winter, we did not. Bui our lce was delivered, a hunk of ice,

LoBo
G.H,
L.B *
G.H,

So you had ar® iceman that came?

I had one hsre in this country, too,

Yes, yeah, I ges,

Ko, I, I, uh, we never had rafrigeration, what, what I have now.
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L.B.

Blectric refrigeration, right., Now, um, wha...as you remember

town,.. Yes?

G.H,
L.B.
GoHe

L.B.

' G.H.

L.B.
GIH.

No, L, I, I just want to say one thing.
Teah,

the

Offfthe kitc hen theve was something, what you would call here, a uontry,
but it was more of a room, not a narrow,,.thing, It was called, it wouldn'h
mean anything to you, what it's called,

Say it.

{Shpise Kommas™ A shpise is a meal, more or less...2nd a Romme "ls uby, a row,

¥m hm, So it would be 1like a food storage room,
Right, right. But, you had, uh, and this always had a window,

S0 1t was

# storage room, due to the window, cold, too., So, diiving the winter, we <idn't
have an l¢ebox,

LOB.
G.H.

considreably

Uh huh,

I think, at least not, not all the time, Of course, for, let’s say, ub,
vou expected company, or you, you,..a special, & holiday or what, I don®t
know, youe could always get ice, but during the winter 1t was, considerably,

eliminated, and the storage room, really, kept vour things.

You mustn't forget one thing, too, the cgimate beitween here and Burope 1s
guite different,

LB,
G .H‘
L.B,
GaH,
L.B.

And what was the climate like there?

Well, this today would have bean a perfect summer day.
Summer?

A 1lttle, mayhe a litile warmer,

The temperature about 70, then? 8o it was a little bit cooler

summer, than we have?

G.H.
LOB.
G.H,
L.Bl

Go.Ha
L.B.
G.H.
LQB.
GJH.
L.B.
G.H,
L.B,
G.H.
LIBG
G.H.

L.B‘
G.H.

Chy much cooler,
Right, And what about the winters?
They were not as cold,

in the

S0 it's more temperate alle around? The whole year is more temperais.
there®s less variation in temperature,
Well thers is a8 very. there, there 1s s difference, by all means. ..

Yes,

But not,..as strong as here.

Yea’ho

S0, this is, maybe, a ilttle answer to food toc, you know,
Yeah, yeah, Did you bhave snow,; a lot of snow?

Oh yes, we did.

You 41ia?

Oh surs,

I don't know where Offenbach is, is it...

Especially the® area where I lived, we, I, I staried skiing when I wos
5y 6 years old, '

Is that rxight?
By 1...trolley car, about, uh, three squarters of an hour, we

the forest, you know,

LGB.
G.H.
IJIB.
G.H.
L‘B‘
G.H’

Could you help me, uh, with gobgraphy? Where is Offenbach? Is
You've heard of Frankfurt-on-Mein?

Yes, but I, I can't picture it on the map, where it would be.
What?

It's obviously on the Mgin River.

On the Mgin River, right, But it’s...

Is 1t southern?

« s pretity much south, right.

South, Is it hilly thde?

Ln'lh. 4

Uh, t0...which is the closest country to border it?

Well, Belgium is maybe the closest,

WETC. . 5101
it, by in,..
It's.,.
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Ah, all right.

Umm, , .85 well as Holland,,.next to it would be France,

Min, going south?

Right.

#m,

And, um,..BEngland, of course you would have to travel, so 1t was thr same.,.
Yeah, no, but I meant ectually on the border itself,

The border, then Italy is further,

Right.

Belgium, and Hodland, and France, are mayhe the closest...borders,
All right., So youR learned to skl when you were 5, Now, did..,
Yiell,..

Pretty much?

Yeah, but you know, there's a different Qind of skling In Burope ti:
It's, vh, cross-country skiing.

Ok]l.lh LI N ]

You don't, you,..

We do 1t hers now,

You dor it here, now, yah,

How, they Just...

But, for instmnce, as I sald, by trolley car...

Yeah,

Uh, cars were not itoo, too,,.,uh, we had cars, naturally, So, as kidz
We went by trelley car...to school, Bven when the school, uh, went on a, o,
you know, excursion of this kind, by trolley car, And, ul,,.we wqpt in tie
highest mountains, it was certainiy elevated, but not, uh, as high as, ub,
the Catskllls, or Adirondacks. But you walked all day. then yeou had a
1ittle...slopes, or so, but that's the way I knew skiing, you know.

L.B, So 8it was cross-country skiing,

G.H. Hight-

L.B. Were you an outdoor,..girl?

G.H. Very much so.
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B, You were a sporis girl,

H. Yeah, 1 dld a lot of sporis, yeah,

B, You did? Now...

H, For a Jewish gérl, extremedy much,

+B. Oh, nmost Jewlsh giris did, were not sports minded? is that right?

H. The parents weren't, and there was qulite, uh,..’

.B. Nooo, that, that's very interesting, because it's, it's very often ifrus hove,
G.H. - Ho, o 1'11 tell you something. As...we startél, there is

quite a difference between my sister, in age, and my brothers my sister is

12 years older than 1 am,..if I told you, my brother, 8 years, And I came, 2
1itile.....maybe, not even expected. So, after so many years, you know, they
were already older, I, I...uh...brought an entirely new life into the fanmily
as my parents have known,

L.,B., Right,

G.H., My mother, for instance, learned how to swim at the age of 56.,.becanss
I just hecame of age to learn how to swlm, and she learned along with me,
L.B., Hmmm,

G.H., Very interesting. Snow, rain, sunshine, there wasn't a day my mother
didn't go swimming, uh, inside, of course, during the wiater.

B.0H Where did you go swimming inside? There was a pool?

+,H, Oh, we had something like thk Y, you know, which was open to,,,uh, until
Hitler came to power, the Jews couldn't use it anymore.

B, Yeah,

G.H. But, uh, my mother wouldn't miss a day, not to go swinmming, it's gquite
remarkable,
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L.B. And you went too?
G.H. Yah,
L.,B, And where did you swim in the summer?
G,H., In the HMdin,
L,B, In the Main. Now, you say, uh, most Jewish girls were not raised ito be
sports girls, all right., Now, how would you characterize most of the Jewisn
girls that you knew? If they weren't sports girls, what were they?
G.H. ©Ch, I mean, they were, by all means, uh,,.bvery fine girls,..
L..B. 0Oh yeah,
G.H. ...with a great deal of interests.
L.B., Yeah, How did they spend their time?
G.,H. How they spent their time? Well, we had,..after school, naturally, ihe-e
was homework to do,,.and then, we had@litile groups, you could belong %o
2y 3 groups of, consisting of, maybe, 6 to 8, to 8 girls. And we met, and »:
got, had little refreshmentis, and we discussed...
L.B. Boys.
G.H. Boys, clothes, we had, we had a great deal in common, but, um,,.uh,..
really, most of my good, thsy were more, Um,....protected from sports, you
know, sports are...
L.B, Yes, I doa know, I do know, ‘
G.H, And, uyh, T hope I make myself clear, my parents happend to be very much
in favor of my.,.activities. I'm sorry Xurt isn’t here, because that's.,..
that®s one he writes on, usuwally. I was really,..
L,B, He told us a little bit about it.
G.H. Did he really? I was more...
L.B. He sald you were really a champlion swimmer,
G.H. Ho, but that's besidea the point, but I, for, as of...real ecarly agc,
44971 belonged to Turnverximd..,, I don't know if you ever heard of that,
L,B. Yes, they have them here, too,
G.H., They, we have it here, too, 1 never, um,.,
L.B. Right. Now, it's a kind of athletlc organlzation,is that correct?
G,H., #&n atheletic, did you say?
L.B. Yeah,
G.H. Yah,
L.B., Now, from what age did you belong toc this?
G.H. Very young, about 5, 6 years old. I went, once a week, for calisthenics,
ancther day, um, for, like bars, you know,..
L.B, Yes, yes,
G.H. Or the, uhh,,.a, a bar, I don't know what you call it,
L.B. Well, there are horses, there are bars...
G.H, Horses,
L,B. ...trapezes,..
G.H., ‘Trapeze, yah,this kind of thing.
. L.B., Uh, the ladders that you handg and swing from.,.
G.H. Yah, yah, yah, and ropes, and this kind of thing.
L.B. Ropes.
G.H. And this was, maybe, an hour's actlvity, every af...l mean, uh, whenever
the afternocon,,.was there, you know,
L.B. Now, uh, the turnverfind yas held &n what kind of a building? Wnho
spongored it? . o
G,H., ©Ch, there wasg; uh.,.,.ub,..a sponsor, it was just called Turnvé%%@he;
this was one big bullding in itself, blg shed,
1L.B. Well, who ownd the bullding? Was 4% a clity dbuilding?
G,H. City, I would assume, city, resily. You paid dues,
L.B., You pald dues., And, then, who maintained,..after all, somebody has to
maintain the athletic equipment.

G.H, Yah, I know, I, I really, you know, when you are thls young,you really
don't uh,..



Gretel Hirschen Side 1, page 11 433 Interviewer: Lucllle Brown

L.,B. Ho, How, were mosti of the young people in the BRTurnverrine, were they
not Jewish?

G.H., Yah,

L.B, Not Jewish?

G.H. Not Jewish,there were a fouw, but not many.

L.B. TYeah,

GH, I fenced,

L.B., Ch, you did? U
G,H. And, you know, so, so, uh, but this was all within the Turnwerrince. ihern,
a little later, when I was about 12, or, 12 maybe, I jolned, uh...a fencin:
club, ,.vhere you had legsons at the gsame time, R e

L,B. Mm hm. Now, uh, was the swimming pool in the Turiverrine also?

G.H. No,

L.B., ©Oh, that was in another abullding., What was that, the name of thei tuilaiar”

G.JH. Uh, it was cslled "Shtatbath, Now, shtat is the city, 0.X.?

L.B. It was like a public bath.

G.H. Right, rigsht, right.

L.B. And, you could swim, there was a pcol in there, and yous could swins.
G.H, Oh yeah,

L.B. Diad @you have {0 pay for that?

G.H., 7Yah,

L.,B., #And that was open to the public?

G.H., Yah, but it, thls definitely was a city, uvh, type of a.,.a thlng.
L.B. Did meny Jews go swimning?

G.H. Ch yah,

L.B., That they 4id?

G,H. Yah,
L.B. Young people, or...
G.JH, Yah.

L.B. 3But not sc many your mother's age?

G.H., Uh,..the point actually I wasnt to make, my mother lea...learned how tou
swim at a late age,

L.B, Yes, yes,

G.H, That's the point, and from ihen on, she went every day. But, uh...i; I
don't even remember if my father.,.uh, uncles and aunts, I don't even ronernher
them, BBut my brother and sister, I'm sure they did it too,

L.B., 'They went swimming also?

G.H., Yah,

L.B. Did most Jewlsh children go swimming?

G.H. Yah,

1,B., They did?

GeH. lckﬂmp

L.B, But they didn't do those other things?

G,H, Swimming, swimming...no...

L.B, They didn't do calisthenics, they didn't fenee?

G.H. Svwimming was...no,..sulmming was more 1like a necessity, like a youn;sier
learns to dri#e a car at the age of 16,

L,B, Yeah,

G.H., But I learned to swim searlier than 16, it was Jusi, ub, a must, fc inow
how to help yourself in water,

L,B, Mm bm, Yid you go boating, too?

G.,H. HNo,

L.B. No, Ubh, did you play tennis?

G, Yes, 1 did.

L,B. You did play tennis,

G.H., Of course, you kiow, compared to this country, the schools were mnuch nore
physic,,..uh, much,,,.more emphasis was put on physical exercises, than here,
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L,B. Wm hm, Now tell me about your schooling, just a little bit, now. You
were bogn in 1914, and you started school at what age?

G.,H. ¢6.

L.B. 6, and what kind of a school did you go to?

G,H. Yell, then I had, uh.....un...grammar school,

L.B. Up until what grade, or what year?

G.H., Um,...,well;, not took hard to say, I went 12 years to school, and ©
years of it was, uh, & higher school, hilgher, where you paid for the hipner
schools,. .,

L.B. Was that llke the gymnas?

G.H, Yah, well gymnasium...,.uh.,.vas actually only for siudents who,,. want
into medicine or law,

L.BE. lm hn,

G.H., It was a different preparation, in gymnasium, you had Latin,..

L.B. Im hm,

G.H, .,.a8bove all, I mean, not above all, but it was a main,..

L.B. 8o it was z classliecal education?

G.,H. Yah.

L,B. All pright. So you went, how many years to...

G.H, I did not go to a gymhasium,

L.B, HNo, but let's start with the, uh,.,

G.H. I went to.,.

1,B. ...the grammaxr school was 6 years?

G.,H. Yah, I assumed, yah,..

527 {Tape ends)

Side 2 000

L.B. Are you working? Are you working? (Tape off),

G.H, Good?

L.B, Yeah, 8o, now, after,,,

G.H. Im, do you, do you know what lyceum stands for?

L.B. A lycée, like in French, a lyfee,

G.H, A lycée, yah, yah,
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Yes,

S0 this was the school I entered after I was through wiih grammmr school,
ALl right, now, what did you study in the lycée?

What I studied?

Yes, What kind of subject?

Ch, well,,..,um,,.German, raturally...

The aschools were taught in CGerman?

Oh yah,

Yeah, a2ll subjects in German,

Teah,

Right,

S50 you had math,,.

Mm hm,

Goegraphy, biology, chemistry, according th the grade you were in,
The grade, yes. '
English, French,..

30 you had a second language, German and French,

Oh yah, this was compulsory, you could hever choose any subject, this

was it. I had English, you would never know, but whatiyou learn in school,
really not, yeu learn the words, but, you know, it's not a practical type nf...
you learn a song, and poetry, which is of very litile use, later omn, this ne
found out,



Gretel Hirschen 8Side 2, page 13 0is Interviewert Lucille Hpown

L.B. BRut at least it wasn't nnfamiliar to you,
G,H, Notw unfamiliar,
Right. So, you had, you learned 2 additional languages,..aside from Jermar
o for b years,
For 4 yesrs, And the lycée was for &4 years?
Well,,.
No, 1{ was for more.
No it was longer, it was...uh,,.for the average stulent, it was 6 years,
t for thoge wého wanted to go on to the University, it was 8 years.,
L.B, FMn hnm,.
G. H. Now, this includgded, that's what, it's junior high, it's 3, and high
school 1s 3, so0 it would be 6. I think I had, uh.....yah, that's what I aald,
6 years,
L.B. You had 6 years,
G.H. HNow, when you expected to go to, uh, further on,..
L.B. Yes.
¢.H, You had...,.2 more years, and then you had to take what's called an
ﬁﬂﬁg%aﬂpitura. it's really a, um...I can't think of the...Bwalt.,.uh, vh,.,
L.B., Say it in German,
G.H, Umm..,I don*t even know, an aggitura, means like uff, & graduation,
Little,..
L.B. Ceremony? )
G.He Um, well, it, it, it.....for....if you, if you, uh, pass this appiture,
that's the name for the exam, you were college material.
L.B. How do you spell the word, do you konow?
G.H., Abitur?

by b“
\:':3
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I-'aBa Ya.l-!l
G.H, A-b-i~t-u-x, Now I, I pronounce 1t in German,..
L.B. Yes,

G.H. Abitur, it's um,..it's your preparation for college,

1.8, Mn bm, But, uh, you said, uh, for medicine and ford law, you went to
the gymnas, not to the lycée. Is that correct?

G.H. Right, because you needed latin.

L.B. Right, @S0, what sort of studies would you go on to at the University
if you took the extra 2 years at the lycée?

G.,H. Anything,

L.,B. ©Oh, I ses, Anything other than medicine amnd law, I see. Now, whal...
G.H. Not, uh, excuse me one minute,..gym.,.gymnasium was not always coed, it
depended on the city,

L.B. ¥m bm,
G.H, It° mostly really for boys.
L.B. IF was

G.JH. Now while you hed your abit.,.while yom were preparing for your abitur,
I Jjust sk wonder, I think you could, you had latin also,
. L.B., Mm hmn, Now,..
G.H., I did not, I mean, as 1 said.
L.B., Well, because yon stopped atB the end of the 6 years.
G.H. Right, rigeht.
1,B. Now, was the lycée coeducational? Or was it all,..
G.H. HNo, only girls.
L.,B, Only girls. Has...
G.H. Lycée stands, actually, only for girls,
L.B, Is that right?
G.H. Yah, If you, I don@t know if I have a diction..,l could, no, I don®t bave
it anymore. Lycée stands, actually, for girls® school,..
L.B. I see, but the grammar school,..
G.MH. ... of higher education,
L.B. ...was what?
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G.H, Grammar school?

L.B. Yeah,

G.H, No, boys and girls were always separate, there wasn’t, uh,..

L.B, 8o, your grammaxr school was all girls, and your high school was all glris®

And the boys went o an all-boys schoel? Ahhh, How many schools, uh, like

this were there in Offenbach? One each? Or more than one?

G.,H. Uh, no, 2 for boys, and one for girls,

L.B. HNow, in the, uh, grammar school, the grammar school wag compulsory oy
avery child?

G.H. ©Oh yah, yah,

L.B. Vas the lycée compulsory?

G.H. Uh, no,

L.B. No?

G.H. If you didn't want,.,.uh, you had to go only 3 more years, what was called
mittelshule...

L.B, Mm hm,

G.H. This did not cost,.

L.B. But the lybée did cost? Your porents had to pay?

G.H. You did, you did not pay, I mean, for mittel...for gremmar school anu
mittelshule you didn*t pay.

L.B. Righit,

G.H, But for gymnazium or lycée, you paid., Now, my school, which I entered
after, uhh; grammar school, used to be called Fuerer, means “higher”, Maidehan,
Fugrer Maldchen Schule,

L.B. Yes.

G.H. Maidchen is.,.

L.B. Girl.

G.H., A young girl.

L.B. M hm,

G.H. Schule is "school". But, then, durlng the time I was.,.in therve, it wasn

changed to Lyceum, you seej yocu know, you proncunce it French, lycée.,.

L.B. Right.

G.H. We sa...we pronounce it lyceum,

L.B., 30, let*s see what years that would be, So, you started in about L1920,
and you finished grammar school in 1926, and you finished your lyce...uh,
lyceum, in 1932, approximately. Is that correct? 1932, that would he a year
before Hitler came,

G.H, %Yah, but in our area, vhere we lived, we really felil it....,.begin to feel
it in '34,

L.B. Kot until °34,

G.H. Yah, I mean,..

L.B, Yeah,
G.H. In other areas, you had it even since,.."'30,
L.B, Mmm,

- G.H, TIn Bavaria, uh.,.in '28,

L.B, Vom, How, did you like this city that you lived in, did youl iike Offenbacu?
G.H, Very much so,

L.,B, Was it a heavily, uh, industrial eity, or was it a small,..

G.H, Yes, it was a populaiion like fichenectady, about the size of 3chenec:iady,

I loved every pebble in the city.

LB, You did?

GH., We had a beaukiful, beautifud, um,,,..life there, 1t was beautirful. iisuse),
It seemed, now, I don*t know, but, see, not to blow my horn, I, 1 feel ridiculoun
saying so, bui 1 was =0 very active, o everybody was, was my friend, 1 was
everybody's friend, really. You became one, ¢lose...l didn't know, Just
everybody, don't get me wrong...

L.B. No.

G.H. But when you grow up there, and, and uh, you know, it was just a, &
wonderful.,.we had a wonderful youth...til it all began.,.
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L.B. So, you, youn, you really were gquite happy.

G.,H. Vexry happy.

L.B. Yeah, And, uh,.,most of your frlends would be not Jewlsh? Did we
establish that?

G.H. 1 had very many, um, Jewish friends alsc, by all means, My age went
to, to schoo}l, of course, and parents were friends,

L.,B. A}l ¢right, now, let's take this one at a time, Now, for example, when
you went 1o the lycée, was there any, uh, uh.....uh,; quota, or anythlng,
were Jews admitted to the lycee freely?

G.H, DNever,

L.B. There was no quota? A Jew could go to the lycee, as long as he couirdl nay?
Right? :

G.H. Ohg sure,

L..B., All right., Uh, was this true of the gymnas, too, as far as you know?
G.H. ©Oh, abgolutely,

L.B., There was no problem?

G.He Ohy no, no,

L.,B, What about in the University, do you have any idea, and the profeszszions
of medicine and la@?

G.H., 'There was a quota®?

1.B. UYell, not, let's not call it a quota., Was there any difficulty about
entering those professions for a Jew, as far as you know?

G.H., No, I don't think there was,

IJ.B: MRI h!l‘l. ey
G,H, If you resd” the material for it...
LQBi Ye&hl

G.H. ...you were in,

L.B, I see, ALl xight, now, in your famlily...you say you were a fairly
religlious family. Was your fathey, uh, an Orthodox man?

G.H. HNo,

L.B, Did he go to shul?

G.H, Friday, no,,.uh, my moth.,.my father, not vexry regularly, my mother srent
every Saturday morning,

L.B. She went every Saturday morning. Uh, in the bh...in the synagogue thati
she went to, was 1% a Consexrvative?

G.H. Ve had only one,

L.B, Only one,

G.H., Synagogue,

L.B., All right., Did the women and the men sit separately? Whexe did she =i,
in the balcony?

G.H. Upstairs.

L.B., 0Oh. And, the service was conducted in what language? ;
G.,H. Oh, Hebrew and German,

L.B. Hebrew and German, Mostly which? Do you remember which language pro-
dominated?

G.H. Umm, well more Hebrew, the same as you go here. You go to a Reform servise,
you have more English than Hehrew.

L.B- YES.

G.H., You go to a Conservative, you have more Hebrew than English,

L.B. All right.

G.H. S0 this was the same over there.

L.B. All right. And your mother, uh, did the, uh, blessing of the candles
every Friday night? Now, uh, your father, then, did not wear a beard, or »
skullcap?

G.H. No, no,

L.B. HNothing of this sort?

G.H. No, vt {ri'g\!!(

L.B., All right. And, uh, your, did your mother keep koahera” Did,..
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Kogher home, yah,
She kevt a kosher home?
¥m hm,
An...but, and your father didn't object to any of these things, ne
did not, umm,,.attend services very rvegularly?
That's all,
Yeah, Did he go on the High Holy Days?
Oh, definately, iy father also bedonged to, uh,. what would he a lodre nsre,
Yes,
Yeah,
What kind of a lodge?
A men's, ub,..uh, gee, I know so little aboui, coltld it be,,,well, like
son, maybe, or, or, & lodge,; consisted only of Jewish people,
Was it a soclal organization?
Gh, vyah,
It was...
Tah,,..social, now wait a minute, they, they, they, uth, had certain juncticux
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.B. Or mas it social, or btusiness?
H. It was really, I'1ll tell you, it, we,,.I'm afraid 1'11l lead you into
. something else, This was, it was called Brudeschaft,
L.B. Mm hm,
G.H, You know, brude:is "a brother".
L.B. Yes, yes. b
G,li. Now, for instance, uh,....within the Brudeschaft, they had a. ghedewa,,.
L.B, Yes.
G, H. You know what a che&era is?
L,B, Mm hm, it's a friend, a comrade,
G,H. Right,
L.,B. Mm hn,
G.H, So, they...vh,,.functioned, ing case of se¥ere sicknesses, where help
was needed, veally,
L.Ba ¥m hm.

G.H, Or, you know, we didn't, I'm sorry to lead to this, I don't know ii it
interests you,.

LB, No, it is, it does,

G.H, But, we didn’t have anything, uh, like a funeral home,

L.B. Right, ¢t
G.H., S0, if someone had pessed away, this Brudeochaft, this ched.,.chedera,
uh, prepared the person.

L.B, Mm hm,
G.H. You know,
LB, Yes,

G.H, And took care of things like this,

L.,B. HNou, this was just for those people who belonged to this organizaticn,
then, Was there more than one of thils kind? It's a self-help organization,
actually?

G.H. Right, right.

LB, Foxr Jews,

G.H. Right, There was one...

L.,B., So that a Jew could get a Jewlish bhurial, for example?

G.H. Right, right.

L.B. Right?

G.H. Fm hm, fwm hm,

L.B. ALY right, now, uh, did o1l the Jews in Offenbach belong to thig?
teHs No,s no.
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L.B. All right. Wnhat kind of Jew belonged?

G.H. What kind of Jews did belong?

L.B. Tes,

G.H. Well, you have to be asked for it, you could not say, "I want to woone
a member." You had o be asked by the elderly, you know...

L,B. TYes.

G.H., ...to become a memher, And, I suppose, you were asked, um, accordi-~z..,

of the type of human being you were.

L,B. ¥m hm, Would you say meost of them were middle class Jews, were thoy
mostly businessmen?

G.H. Yah,

L.B. They were?

G,H, Middle--class, businessmqg. yah,

L.B, Were there any, uh, professors in it?

G.d. Yah, yah, it was actually a good mixture.

L.B, Were there any working-class people inf it?

G.,H, Well, I'm sorxy to say, there was more of a distinctlon between the
working class and,..l'm ashamed to say...

L,B. No, uh, ycu know, this 1ls a fact of life,

G.H. Yeah, but that's the unfortunate facts.

L.B. Yeah, that's not, uh, unfortunate, but, that's why we'ra, this is
something that...

G.H, There were teachers...

L.B. ...you see, Kurt didn't even mention that there was such an organisdiun,
SO WOMEN, YOU. ..

G.H. Wy father-in-law didn't belong...

L.B., Aaszah.

G.He ...t0 it, to my knowledge. And yet, he was a very well-known businccanan
in town,

L.B, That's right,

G.H, Uh, bul,; he wasn't,....toe, I mean, by all means, he was aware of helrx
Jewish, and he lived, lived as a Jew, as a matter of fact, he lived as =

very good Jew...

L.B, Fm hm,

G.H. ...in hls heart. But he was not one to attend services,

L.B. ¥m bm, Well, nelther did your father...

G.H., He just, uvh,..

L.B. ...but he apparently felt the need to belong to the Bruderschaft,

G.H. Yah,

L.B, Right? : B

G.H., As a matter of faclt, my mother belonged to the same t¥pe of an oxmanization
for women,

L.B., Was it connected with this same, was it like the ladies' auxiliaxy?

G,H, Yah,

L.B., For the Bruderschalft? What was their name?

G.H. Yeah, only it was in a much smaller, uh, way, uh, they didn't have 200
members like the Sisterhood, or 400, uh, like the Auxiliary for the Home of
the Aged, of which I'm treasurer, I know the amount of pepple. It was a much
smaller group.

L.B. Hell, how many men were ln the Bruderschaft?

G.H. T don't, I don't think more than, uh, %0, 50, and I°ll tell you why, Jhe
davghers of the men who belonged, they had, once a year, a very big dinner,
the dinner,..

L.,B. Mm hm,

G.H. And the daughters.,.of the men.,.had the honor,,.to serve,

L.B. Mm hn,

G.H., Dut it was never a very, very large congregation.
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S0 that's how you know about how many members there were,...

Yeah, that's what I go by,

« s s0ECAUSE yOu served?

I actu,..almost see them sittling, in a way, you know,

Right, right,

In a fashilon.

How what dld the women do? Did they have a, a function, too, like, ih,

for sexample,,.

GL.H,
L.BQ
G.H,
L‘Bl
then,
G.HO

They had a che era, too,

They did?

When a woman died, naturally, women attended,

Chhh, so one, the Bruderschaft was Tor the burial of Jewish men, and
what was the women's organization called?

I ca,..I c...uh, 5t was also really, Cheders Kaddishe, 3if I'm correc'.,

Kaddishe, I don't know,

L.B.

All right, 80, and they attended, then, toc the, the sick, and the, ukh,

the care...

G.H.
L.B.

Helplessly asick,
And the helpless, all right. Now, di...if someone, who was not a mesbher,

was sick, did they go out and tend to them?

G,.H,
L.B.

By all means, oh, by all means, yes. Ch, sure,
o it was, even though only, it had only 4 to 50 members, are you saying

it helped other Jews who were not members?

G.H.
L.B.
G.H.
L,B.
G.H.

Ch definitely.

Well, how did they find out sbout these Jews,..who were sick and needed hein?
They would call on them, if a family in need...

Mm hm, .

«voWould call on the Bruderschaft, or, at, uh; let's call it, the wWomen

in Auxillary, 1 don't know if there was a name for that or not,

L.B.
G.Ho

one 1,

IJ.B.
G.H,

Yeah, yeah,

Ch yah, Do you know, as a matter of fact, um...I'm a little jJumpy, fron
hing to the other, You could,..

No, this is very interesting, I never heard of this before.

Yah, you could actually only become a member if someone, uvnfortunately,

was no longer here, or, due to illness,...

L.BO
G.H.
L.B.

3o they had a limited number of members?
Yah, yah, yah.
And you could only, uh, join, uh, flrst somehody had to ask you, anc

secendly, only 1o replace someone who had died?

G.H.
L.B L]

‘If someone died, correct, yeah,
And it, although it was composed ofe, from 40 to 50 businessmen, teachsis,

essentially, ..

GuHo
L.B.
G.H.
L.Bo

G.H
L,B,
G.H.
L.B,
G.H.
LoBo
G.H,
5aY,
L,B,
GIH.
L.B.
n.H.

Eh, yeah, yeah...

o« .Professionalfl, ..

No, not absBlutely,..,

.« osmiddle-~class professionals?

Fardon?

Middle class professionals,

Yah, yah, yah.

Were there doctors in there?

Yah,

There werve doctors?

Yah, I don't remember so clear, but I'm sure, I mean, no, you can actually
there was...un.,.look, no, therve were.,.all of,..uh, people from all, un..,
Walks,

Walks of life, by all means,

But no working class people?

Hm?



Gretel Hirschen Side 2, page 19 229 Interviever: Lucilie Zrownm

L.B. HNo working class people?

G.H., Yes, I suppose, too, I suppose so, oh yeah, I think so, No, I would. uh,.
L., You're sure? Because it doesn't matter,

G.H. No, I, thinking back,..

L,B. It's Just that I would like to know,

G.H. No, thinking back, um..,

L.B. What would, what would, uh, somecne who worked in a factory would L=
asked to join?

G.B. They might not have even been interested in it,

L.B, HNo, but the point is, were they members? This, I'm not juwging ther,
T just want to know what, uh, how it worked, it's very interesting.

G.H. I really would assume, Yes, they were,

L.B, They were, So that,..suppose, um, for example, uli, the neighhorhocd

that you lived in, where your epartment was, was, what sort of a neighbernocd
was it, was it what you would call a nice neighborhood, a suburban nfightarnong?
G.H. Yah,..no, a, a good middle class neighborhood,

L,B. A good middle class neighborhhod,

G.H., Yeah,

L.B, Vere the businesses also mixed In with the homes? Ur wag it all
regidential?

G.H. Uh, more yesidential,

L.B, Were there any stores around?

G,H., No,

L,B., HNo stores?

G.H. o,

L.B. A1l right. Now, did the people who worked in the factories, and In ihe
stores, did they live in your neighborhood, or did they tend to live in anviber
neighborhcod?

G.H. HNo, I would say it was a good mixture.

L.B, There was & mixture?

G,H. Absolutely,

L.B. Because even in a city like Schenectady, you find some, you find ub.....
you tend to find certain, uh, groups of people living in Niskayuna, G.K,7 {h,
maybe more professional people, or more business people, whereas, in certzin
patts of WSchenectady you're going to find almost wholly working class peovie,
G.H., HMm hr,

L.B, Right?

G.H. Yah,

L.B. And then you'll find, uh, the white collar pecple living in another area,
G.H. Yeah,

L.B. Or you might find Italians living in one section,

G.H. Yah. Well, ub, no, you didn't have this here, ¥You did have, maybe, I want
to point out,,.only one...sectlon, where you had some one-family homes. This
was a wealthier, ufl...,uvh, maybe, wealthler people than middle ¢lass., But in
general, all over, um...it was good mixture.

L.B. Mm hm, '

G.H. Yeazh, that, I think I'm correct by saying so.

L.B, All right. ¥as there any neighborhood that might be classed as a slum?
Where the very, very poor lived..,in Offenback?

G.H. Hell, there was an older part of the clty, and um,..maybe there were.....
th..+I hate to use this expression, but maybe they were alitile poorer, yah;
maybe they couldn't afford...a llving..,

L.B. Well, don't, you know, don't be afraid io say wha. was, you know,..

G.H. ...in a, in a larger apartment,

L.B. Right, right,

G.H., 1t was all according to needs and circumstances, of course, you know,
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L.B.
G.H‘
LQB.
G.H.
L.B.

iook, uh, when my father was growing up, now he grew up in, in Russia, .,
Yah,

He was only allowed to play with 5 boys in his toun,

By his parents?

By his father. And, uvh,they were all either businesswmen, um, or th: sing

businesspeople, or, 1 think one was the rabbi's son. All right. Now, wao
there any such restriction placed on you?

G.H.
LDB »

No,
Was there a kink'of selection that took place, 30 that your friend.

tended to come from certaln kinds of familles?

G.H.
L.B.
G.HC
L.B,

GLH,

L.B.
G.H,
L.B.
G.H.
L.B.
G.H.
L.Bo
G.H.
L.Bv
GoHn
Were
L.B.
G.H.
L.B,
GeHa

L9B.

Tended to come?

Yeah, in other worBRs...

I mean, did come?

Yeah,

Yeah, no, I...

As a 1ule, as a rule, yourfriends...

Yeah, anybody, anybody.

Anybody?

Y&ho

Now, how, what was your social,..

Now, I, I wouldn't say it was a selected, uh,,.,you...looked,.,
Not that I, I went out and chose them.,,

Ho, of course not,

seowith this one or that one,.. : .

No, no, of c¢..,.no, Uh, whoever,,.you find tc be a good gay, you just
friendly with, that's all,

Yeah, 0.K.

Regardless of the father's, uh...uh...

Occupation.

Occupation, No, this...l don't know this side of it at all, absclutely not,
Now in, in vour home,you spoke German?

Yah ?

Is that correct?

Yah, :

Your parents spoke Germsn to each othexr?

Right.

Wore they born in Offenbach?

Yeah, veah.

They were?

Ko, my father wasS...

Mm hm,

And his family was in J generations, there,..in Offenbach. And my nothex
from Nuremburg, '
Mmhm.

Bavaria,

Right. So, and so she was German also?

Ch ves. X

She was German-born,

Yes, yeah,

So they spoke Germanfin the home? Um, and your mother went to shul every

Satuxday, Did, uh,..was there much conversftion in, within the family, amongst
the members of the family? Wha,.,.did you talk a lot, say, at dinnertime, 2id
you talk about things?

G.Hi
L.BO
G.H,
L.Bl

Yes, yeah,

Vhat kinds of things did you talk about? Do you remember?
Well, according to what had happened during the day.

Do you know whether your father was interested in polities?
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G.H, No, very much in music,

L.B, He was intevested in music?

G.H, HNo, politics, he did belong, as a matter of fact, to a, 8 political
32" organization, which was called’bchwarz Rote Golde, like Black, Red, and :.cli.

L.BR, Black, Red, Gold,

G.H., Yah,

L,B., HNow what did that mean?

G.,H, Uh, um,,.,uh, ok, isn't that ter¥i,.,I shouldn’t have started it. mt,

I mean, they were, they, it was actually an inactive, uh, vh, organizaticn,

really, it was,..l think it was based on the war veterans from the first

World. Var.

L.B., 1 see,

G.H, HHmhm, Uh, Lu, I'm sorry to interrupt you, Are we all through with

schooling, becamse [ didm go on in school, you know,

L.B., No, you tell me whatever more there is about schoelirg, yes.

G, H, After I fini,,.no, I, you, we talk about everyday life there,

L.B. Yeah, yeah,

G.H., But after I, uh, uh...you can call it a graduation, too, you know.

L,B. Yes,

G.H. I went, I applied...for, it's maybe Interesting, for a sports schooi,

for phys ed school,

L.B, Aaah,

G.H., But due tv being Jewish, I was,.,postponed, I wasn't refused, but I didn‘t

getl an acceptance eitheyx, Without bragging, the #qualifications, I would have

had, but it was due to being Jewish 1 was stalled, to enter, to enter,

L.B., Now, was the school in Offenbach?

G.H., No, no,

L.B., tUhere was it?

G.H. In Stuttgard,
Yeah,
Which part of Germany this ls, exactly, I can't even tell you,
Well, all right, we can look it up.
And, um.,.in Munich, Andpboth, uh...
Turned you down?
Uh, turned me, uh,..down, they turned me down but in bhetter words, as
ity I mean, I wan't, but this was in,,..the early '30s, you know,
Ohsit was alread@ in the '30s,
Well, no, it was, let® me see, before, what did we figure?
e Tigured, uh, you, about '32,
32, T was out of school,
Teah,
And T was then what? 167
¥mm, ‘il4, no, 18,
18,
Mmm,
18, yeah, naturally,
Mm hm,
So, I was, uh, no opening,..
M hm,
(lasses are all fi,.,the classes are all filled up, this type of ihine.
M hm,
i G, H, So then I applied...for..iKindergartenrin Seminar, which is a nursery

school,,,.type of scheool,

L.B. To teach it.

G.He To learn, to become a nursery school teacher.

L.,B., Mm hm, yes.

G.H, A nursery, in Germany, is in kindergarten,
L.B. Um hm,
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Nursery doesn't exist,

G IHU

L.B, Righto

G.H, do, pre-school is kindergarten.
L.,B. !m hm,

G.H. So this was a 2-years...uh, course,
L.Ba Mm hmo

G.,H., I couldn't get into this immediately either, but...most likely dfle t=
the same reasons, so for & months, we had a very known art school in OFfentucii-
on-Mein, it's well-known. I wasn't at all gifted in any kind of arts, bul.,,
I had to do something, I couldn't, uh, vou know,,, And so, what I did ther
was, um, 1 uent there only for & months hecause I knew, after this I could
enter this Kindergavtenrin Seminar, 50, I graduated from there, and I had -
city job, See, the kindevszariens were..,uh...sponsored by the city. Tit¥s liio
school,
L.B., You, you went to the Kindergarten, uh; uh, schecol, for 2 years?

He Yah, and I, and I got my,un...
And you graduated,
I graduated, and I had my, um...
Certificate.
Certificate.
Fim hm,
And,,,
And then you got a job in the city kindergarten?
Yah, And it lasted for, not even 2 weeks,
Ok'li

. fnd then I couldn't, no longer, as a Jew, hold this,,,job.
L,B. So after that really, uh, happy, as you describe 11, and wonderful
c¢hildhcod and youth, uh,,.it nust have, 1t would seem to me, if it were ne,
it would come ag » ferrible blow,
G.H., Of course it...
L.B, Is that true, or am I exaggerating?
G.H., Of course, no, of course it was a, a blow,.....but, vh, you know, when
you live with this for a few years, and it really gets...worse, and not beiler,
you almost expect it to happen,
L.B. S0 it wasn®t something unexpected?
lic,
How, uh, during this time, were you and Kurt,..courting?
Well, Kurt left Germany...actually, in 1927 or °*2,
M hm,
He was a friend of my brother, and so, you know..,
lim han,
Um, I wmean that,..I don't know, so that's how it developed, I den't koo,
{(Laughs). That's a good way.
And Kurt,,.no, what 1 mean,say, and, uh, when he le{t school, I'm siui-
he bold you, he...hls future was really plamned against his,..wishes, He
mighit have told you, an uncle of...see, our home town was a center of leaviher
goods, as a matter of fact, internstionally known, You can find leather w.s
or, or valises, or any kRind of leather goods, in this country, ani you will
find, "Made in Offenbach", "Made in Germany" or "Mede in Offenbach". It i
always been a very, ﬁérY...uh...had always been bery known for lts 1eathu' Focds,
leather goods, almost everybody was in, uh, in the leather line, you know, Yrow
tannery to manufacturing, everything,
L.B. Mm hm,
G.H, So, Kurt's uncle.,.uh, had one of the larger factories, and Kurt was
meant for this,.,business, He would have preferred to,,,.rr0 into medicine,
sounds a little coxrny, but it's really so., But you kuow how families,..
L.B. It's not corny, 1t's true, veah,
G,H, How families.,.
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L.B. He told us that when his father said to do something, then he did it,

he didn't question him,

G.H., Yah, yah, that's the way it was, So this, any larger company, lealhhr jouds
tompany, in Offenbach, uh, did, had international business, And, most of

those companies, they were represented in, in forelgn countries, So this
particular f.,.firm,,..had an office in England, had an office in Franlle, anil

Kurt was planned to represent the company in those 2 countries,

L.B. You mean, they planned for him?

G.He ‘They planned for him,

L.B. Yeah,

G.H, S0 I, I, I don't want to repeat myself, what Kurt most likely told :cu,
L.B., Neo, no,

G.H. When he left schocl, he went to school in England...

L.B, Right,

G.H. «..and in France, to learn the language, because he was meant to...
represent the company in those countries, So, he left in *27 or 28, and caly
cane to Germahy, on visits or on husiness, or so, you know...

L,B., So you didn't see too much of him during that time?

G.H. No, actvally not,

L.B. Imm, So when did you and he decide that maybe you were interested i

each other? '

G.H. Ummm, when? What year, you mean?

L,B. Well, was it after you, the lycée?

G.H. Well, we married in '35, and I think we were engaged, maybe a year or twe,
so, about '32,

L.B. It was after the lycée.

G.H. I would say, after, yah, I was maybe 19, 20 or so,

L.,B. Mmm, (Pauses. How lel's see, um..,

G.H, T thought maybe I should, uh..,

L.B. Well, the part about not being admitted to the schools, vh, is interestin:,
but it, it happened so late, see 1t was already in the '30s, The, the

question would be whether earléier, let's say, 10 years earlier, did gir..,
Jewish girls, would they have had a ghard time getting into those same schoolsy
G.,H. No, I'm sure not, if they had the qualifications,

L.B. Yes, I understand, yeah. S0 that was a function of the growing Hitior erat
G.H. Definitely, oh definitely,

L.B. Now in your,..I'm sorry,

G.H. No, not at all, no, No, during my 2 years at this Kindergarten...

L.B., Yes.

®.H. It became worse, so by the time I was out of school, it had gotiei =0,
became so, that I Just could not keep my Job, And I remember my superior realiv
happened to like me as a, as &, not only a student, we became friemdly, ==
wasn't so0.,.very, very much older, maybe an age difference of 8, 10 years,

you know,

L.B. Yes,

G.l. &nd; um, she placed me, I mean I, I, she really had the best for m: in
mind, but then the State sald, set in, and...

L.B, 80, she was not a Jew?

G,H., Ko,

L.B. Yere, uh, how about the other..,
525 {Tape ends)
Side 3 000

LB, Are you working? Are you working? (Tape off), low, uh, we were tallking
about your Kindergarten school, wherdvou went to learn to be a kindergarien
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L.B.cont, teacher, What I, uh, wtarted to aek you wes, di...were there muny
other Jewish g#ris studying there, at that time? At the, wh&t years were vo
there, now? It would be from about "3Z to '3,

G.H. '%.

L,B. S0 it...

G,H., Seems to me it was elonger, because, um, see, alterwards, it, it, antually
it was.... 1 was gulded not to hold my job,..My mother became rather ill, and
we colild no longer keep our, uh, girl, whom we had for sobe,.,20 years,

L,B. Yeah,

G.H, 8o I had 40 be home and,....you know, toke care of the house and...

L.B. 8o, this was... e

G.H., My mother was unable to..,started to suffer asthme, and stuff iike iz,
So it was almost essential for me to be home,

L.,B. How when was this? After you finished the lycée?

G.H. That's what I'm just trying, yah,

L.,B, And before you went to the Kindergarten School?

G.H. 1o,

L.B. While?

G.H., While, uh, well, at the very, very 1ail end, I mean, she didn't becorne
30 terribly sick all of a sudden, but it started and it got worse. And iiem,
at, uh,,.s0 1%, sven if I could have kept the job, this was besides the pcint,
the fact is that I was not, um, I was unemployed due to the Fact I was of
Jewlsh,.,religion,

L.B. Yes, Well,..

G.,H. Naturally,

L,B. ...you wepnen't the only one, L

G.H. As it worked out, of course, as it worked out..,uk, I was very hefdc:
at home, .

L,B. HNow, you say, ycu let this woman go?

G.,H., We had to.

L.B, ¥hy?

G.H. She couldn®t work for Jewish people anymore.
L.,B. A1l right, That was pari of the law too, '
G . H . Certa-inly .

L,B, low, when was that law?

G.H, Well, you see, Af 1 only, unm,,.lt must have been eaxly *30s.

1..B. bMmm, Did you, we discussed this with Kurt, now I, I wondered if you could
tell, or would tell, something about... Did you notice a change in your
friends as this, uh, as the change in times took place?

G.,H. They suffered as much as,..l did.

L.,B. Your non-Jewish firiends?

G.H, Our friends, our neighbors,

L,B. How did they suffer? What do you mean?

G.H. They felt, they felt terrible, they, they, they were sick aboutl it, Lhey
were embarrassed, they cried, they were, they were heartbroken that this had
happened, They were of help, as wuch as they could do,...in every, in every way.
L.B., HNow, was your father able to malntain his business?

G.H, Por ¢a while, (long pause), And, um.,,.but, you know; he had hls business

o\ maybe 50 years, nn, 40 years,'f fv-ve biw 1.0 He yas so known, and, uh,...

ub..... L don't think,.,.he lost,..customers, to a great extent, because he was
Jewish, I don®t even think so,. But, you know, it all develdbed, uh,.,.He conldn
gei, the merchandlise, for linstance, as plentiful,,,es he neodedgit, so natural
a customer finds this out, too, You know, I mean, this, this, something like

thls goes around.

L.B. Right, right. YWell, wasn't there a %time when he was no longer permitied
40 oun a business?

G.H. Oh yah, but this was, then, a little later.

L.B, V¥hen was that?

‘g
1%,
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G.H., It didn't pay, either, any more, because, uh.,.bmsiness went down due
t0...n0t belng able to get the merchandise, I repeat myseli right now, 8s el
as,..many people, out of fear, could no longer be a, as Ffaithful a customer
as they used to be, It all tied in, it's really haxd to def'ine, you know.
L.,B. Were, vh, were your parents able to maintaln their apartment, or did
they have to move?
G.H. Um,....what really happened...it was a very large apaggrtment, and ihiis
was divided,...in,.,the early '30s, also, it seems everything, but..,
L.B. That's right.
G.H, ...of course, it didn't mappen overnight. It was, uh, converted intc 2
apartéments,
L.B., By vhom?
G.H. By the landlord, who was, again, forced by a high®r authority to do nc.
L.,B, Now, he was not a Jeu? The landloxd?
G.H. Yes, he was,
L.B., He was a Jew? And he was foreced to divide the larger apartments into
smaller ones. 50, who moved in? Another Jewish family?
G.H. Yeah, as a matter of fact, uh, they were mostly, uh...,.Jewish tenarns,
yah, Ard I'm thinking of 2.,.small iamilles; in the meantime thelr childyer,
naturally, they T older, too, you knouw, and...some of, uh, in other citinr:,
lived.,.for different reasons. Um..,they came in, to Offenbach,; from small :.r
clties, where it was much worse. than, than in a little larger city, if yoo
call Offenbach a larger city,
1.3, Yes,
G.H, let's say, places like Scotia, or, uh, Schoharie..,just to name a soc 7, ..
LB, Yes, yes.
G.H. 4And they moved, then, into the larger city. You got...s2asier lost in &
little bhigger city....
L.B, Mm hn,
G.H., But, everybody knew you,..
L.B. Uh, 5o, uh, but these people didn't think of leaving Germany, at that iime”
G.H. Well, Lu, I think,.,most of them, really, did not think it comes,..to
this stage, that you have to.
L.B, bMm hm. So they were hoping that it would blow over?
G.H., And, of course, many hoplng to ge...um, at the same token, many of uu
had hoped to be able to leave; there were very, very many who couldn®t leave,
34" who didn't have anybody., We did-n't have anybody. Uh,” » YOU 30
to have a sponser, to take you out., I hate to talk only about ourselves, no«w...
L.B. Well, I want you to.
G.H, Yeah, oux, our advantage was.,.that Kurt had lived in those fToreign countris,
he had residence there, s0 it was, in a way, easier for him, very easy to o
back...even commute back., And for me, aflter we married, Belgium wag the only.,.
country where I got a 3-months, um, uh,.,
L,B, Visa?
A% GUH, T Cii ekl A lutind e » which means visa, to stay, yah.
L.B. Yeah. Uh, did you ever think of, uh, uh, gofing to Talestine, you and Himt®
a¢" G,H, Un, in...'33, as a matter of fact, there was a'Macabeeada, which is =
Jewish Olympic, Olympic Games,
L.B. P,
G,H. Pacabbeada,
L.B, 0Oh, Like the Macabeean Canes,
G.H. Like the Macajeean,..
B L.B. Right.
G.H. 4And, I had a possibility, then, to go, I would have loved to go,
LB, Yeah.
G.H., But, uh, I don't say, to stay, but I, I think I would have liked to. durt
never thought of it, well, I suppose this was the reason I didu't go.
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L.B. 8o you were, uh, you could have participated in these games? BAs whso'!
As a swimmer?

G.H, Bure, yah,

L,B. lmm., And, so you didn't, because you were married st the time?
G.,H. I wasn't married, but...to...be married soon,..

L.B. You were engaged.

G.H. Yeah.

L,B. 8o you did conslidey going, to Falestine?

G.,H, Well, I would have wanted to, but I couldn't even congider, I mean, luri
would net have, uh...

L,B. But, v...uh, uh, 2s a couple, you did not consider golng there to liva'
To get out of Germany...and go there to live?

G.H. HNo, no, no. Now this cousin, who has just left...

LB, Mm hn.

G,H, ...she's a, a year and half old?r than I am, She married a few months
after us, and they immigrated, Ehaichwmnmg,' to Palwstine,

L.B, Palestine, What year was that? Do gyou remembexr?

G.H, Un...'3...86,

L.B, Di,,.did they find it difficult to go, or was it fairly easy at thal time”
G.,H, To immigrate to Falestine?
L.B. Yes.

G.H. UNo, you colild,

L,B, Yeah, How, of the, of your Jewish friends, about how many did you have
at that time in your life, do you know? In the, in the early '30s.,

G,H. Yah, I can...you mean girls?

L.B. Yes.
G.,H, Ch, I would roughly say, 10, 15.
ﬁg@ L.B. All right, now, did any of them leave, or did they talk about leavin: Termeny”

G.,BE. 0Oh, yes,
L.,B. They did”?
G.B. You had to, Lu, You had to think about it.
L.B, Did any of them actually leave?
G.H, Yeah.
L.B. They did?
G.H. Host of them, uvh...really, most of them came to here.
L,B, They came to the United States?
G.H, Yeah, South Africa, too, uh, South Bmerica, tco, at the time. Yeah, it
was, it was.....1it was a little easlier to get to South America, if you had soxeocrs
there, than in here. It wasn't based on a quota, which was here, here in tns
United States.
L.,B. UMm hm, mn hm,
G,H. And, uh, you needed,.,the sponsor, need to give less of a guarantee to
be responsible than it was,....in the United States. Your sponsor here is
responsible for you, to the country, til you become a citizen.
L.B. Fm hm,
G.H. Ii's a litile gamble, too, for anybody to...
L.B. That's right, that's right, Som, um, what about your parenis? Did the:
think about leaving?
G.H., Yeah, they woulds have liked to, but, unfortunately, they caldn’t.
L.B, They could not,
G.H. No. My...brother..,left Germany in '38.
L.B., Where did he go?
G.H. To this country,
@ L,B., He came here., Who was his sponsor?
G.H. Who his sponsox was? Hils wife's side,

L,B, Mm,
G.H, W¥e,,.now, Bhe Wolf family,,.
L,B., Yes,

G.H. ,..had no wne here,
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LB, HMhass

G.H. And #hen, my sister and brother-in-law, they came,,.aiso ing my brothbo-
maybe in *37, and my, my sister maybe '38, some...they were, they were boil
here in '38,

1I..B., DHNow how,; how did they get here? Who sponsored them?

G.H., My brother-in-law, as & matter of afact, to whom I had:talked, his fainey,
.B. Mm hm,

G,H. Uh,..through business, knew people here,

LB, Mm hm, mm hn,

G.H., Through business acquaintance, let's put it this way,

L.,B. Yeah, so they sponsocred your sister and her husband?

G,H, And brother-in-law,

L.B. Now, once they uwere over, there was no chance for them to sponsor you.r
parents?

G.H, My parents, no, becauge they came in the midst of Depression,

L,B, Mmn hm,

G.H. And they were penniless.

L.B. ¥m hm,

G,H, And, uh, you had to have a financial background, alcH, to a certaln zsound

to bring something over, just in case whom you brought over does not work, vos
what would they, they would be, um,..uh,,.a...2 wvelfare, um,..

L.B. Mm hm, mpm hm.

G.H. I cani' explain, express it any better...

L.B, Mm hm, mm hm,

G.H., So, in other woxrds, if you sponsored us, you had to be sure, you had to
prove to be able to support us, could we not af...

L.,B. Support yourself,

Q G.H., Support ourself,
L.B, Mm., So, and s0, when you all came over, you weve not yet in a positicr
to do that?

G.H, Isn*t that awful, 3 children. Now, we weren't there, we came in 41, iut

it just was not... However, they borrowed money, to buy.,.a visa,,.for then Lo

get out over Shanghai, but unfertunately, it turned out,..later, after the momy

was pald, they was all false papers, you know,.,

L.B. Yes, So it was lost money,

G.H. And then time, unfortunately, cavght up, and we never could get thewr ont,

L,B, imm, How you say, when you were young, you had a blg family in Germany.

Is that correct?

G.,H, Wy brother ha,..my, my father.,.is one of, uh, 3, actuvally, only...

L.B, Mm hm,

G.H, My mother was one of..,there were 5 children,

L,B, Mn hm. And they all lived in Offenbach?

G.H. DNo, My father's family, yah, they're all dead. My mother's 3 brothers

were, all 3, in different city, one near Mwmich, one in Berlin, and ones in »
v49 smaller town, Kastle, Ao wue/

L.B, Mm bm, _ - -
14 G.H, And a sister in..iKueinim,,./ecs/nges)
L.B. Mm hnm,

G.H., Fabt of Ger,,.you know, a state in Germany,

L,B. Yeah, yeah, Now, did you vislt with these, uh, uncies, lel's say, and
their families? '

G.H, Very cloge famlly relationship,

L,B, It was? And uh,,.

G,H. 1If they, if they didn®t visit we had letters from,,.every week, from
everybody, and wmy mother, in return, certainly wrote to,.,very, very close
rekationship,

L,B, Mm hm, But with Bthe, with the family living in Offenbach, did you visii
back and forth with them?
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G.H, They, they, oh yah, very much sc.

L.B. Did you share meals and holidays together?
G.H, ©Oh yah, vevry, very much sc,

LB, You did, .

G.,H. Very cloge family ref@tions,

L,B, Were any of your cousins able to get out?
G.,H¢ Uhh,.,

L,B, You mentioned one,..

G,H, Mest of them, most of them,

L.B. Fm hnm,

G.,H. I saw, whlle I was interned, I saw & cousin,..he never made it...
L.B, In the same camp?

G.H, Well, he was.,..a man, of course, dbut his camp was very nearby my cani,
But, he never made it,..,out, He, his c¢amp, then, was,....uh, transferred, siioped,
to another area, and they...unfortulntely, didn't survive,

L.B, HMm, Well, Kurt told us the story, that you were in Belgium,,.,uh, am I
correct? And you stayed in Delgdum, and then the Germans invaded Belgilum., heie
you interned in Belgium? Or 4id you, by that time;, hsd you gone to @france”
G.H, Well, you see, when Belgigm was invaeded, from =zarly in the morning,
whenever, about 4100 or 5:00 in the morning, it was constanily, over the raiio,
for...foreigner, for non-citizens to report, let’s call it, the Armory,

L.B. Mm hm,

G.H, But only the male of a famlly, So Kurt went, naturally, snd from then on
he was intermed, I was still free.

L.B, Mm hm,
GJH., 8o I went.,.to 2...givifriends, I mean, we were friends,..
L.B. Yes,

G.H. And their husbands were where Kurt was., And they had 2, one had 1 cii dj
and,ner name was Gretel, too, had 2 children., So, not having any, I closed ihe
door behind me and went to them, because those two happened to live in the sare
apartment building,

L.B, WMm hm,

G.H, So I stayed with them,,.a few days, and then, with the heip of a Belsian
citizen, with whon we lived in'ﬂlhouse, and he vas a city employee,

L.,B. Was he a Jew?

G.H. Ho,

L.B. Uh huh,

G.H, 8o he brovght us over the Belglan-French hordexr,

iL.B. ¥m hm., S0 you were in France, without any papers, #8 and without Wurt?
Now, what happens now?

G,H. He, in the meantime, was in France, too, which, uh, was wknown to me.
LB, Yes.

G,H., They, the men were all shipped by cargo, by train, into France, And we. ..
fled, because the Germans came,..

L.B., Yes.

G.H. ...deeper in, _

LB, 8o, uh, what happend to you in France? Could Ryou, uh, could you tell that?
G.H., Well.,.um,....it"'s really s..,you know, in a way, Ju, I'm glad I don‘x
remember those thlngs so well anymore,

L.B, All right, nou,..

G.,H. Uh.o.

L,B, You don't have to, if you... ?

G.H. Oh, no, no, not that it bothers me, but it's just,,..left, left ne...

297 the firsts s0 he, um, this Monsieur 'Pavanage, brought us into France. And i{hen
we, we, 1 don't even know anymore how we advanced, maybe, uh,...l really, you
know, ii's a good &question, I don't know anymore, must have been by, by truck,
by bus, you weren't Bery choosy, whoever scould bring you a few miles ahead,
you went with, you know, and I remember the {irst,..
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L.,B, Were you heading, which direction were you heading?

G.H, InVFrance,

L.,B, I know, but in France which direction?

G.H. ©Oh, um, which direction?

L.B. Yeah, were you heading for the coast, were you beading south? Were you..,
G.H, Not south,

L.B. HNo,

G.H. Uh we were heading, actually it eas the north of France, certainly, wus:
were in the Normandy,

L.B. You were...yeah.

G.,H. Sure. And the first night, we s.,.we were in Dunkirk, and this was tos
big, uh, this Was like & nightmare, And, we were,,,you know, it sounds i ¢

We C...HE walk@&, we had no luggage or anything, we had the children, each ol
us had one in her hands, BH¥ER had 2, Bdie had 1, so each of us, had one chiin,
And then we had this..,terrible, um,..% PR air raids, €EEE Shot down,
and laid flat, we, we, on a child, each of us had a child on... And, you know,
from then on, we really {ell into the hands of police, so,,,but not, not, bisy
took care of us, they took, kind of took over, So we lived in, uh,,,lived, w=
were brought to the, uh, police station, in Rouen, that's the north of Fraace.
LB, WMm hn,

G.H. And we were in the police station for about 2, 3 days, and then we weve..,.
we came to Dijon, which was not too far., And there, 1 was separated from ti= Z
because I had no children. However...I was very, very much in the gbeginni .
of a pregnancy,

L.B, Mn,
G.H, So I used, Im missed my...once, you know,’
LUB L] .!n

G.H. So anyhow,..and; um¢,...Kurt did not know that I was pregnant,

L.B., ¥o,

G.H. 8o, I used, uh,..every excuse, you know, and I was checked by 2,,.1I
suppose they were doctors...French, uh, they were in, in BFrench uniforms,
and, I just wanted to aveld to be separated from them, ®And, I...they, uh,
ch&cked, uh, examined me, but it wasﬁoo early 1o really be sure.

L.B. Yes, mm hn,

G.H. So I was separated from them. lLater on, as it turned ocut..,I was then
tran...ly, I, then 1I,,.,.I came to, uh, to a, another, like in a schoel,,.uh,
they brought me to a school with very many other women, they came from all over,
gingle people, old, young, any age. And Elith, and CGretel, the two, my two
friends, uh..,they were kept éthere, and unfortunately tool® long, and then,
in the meantime, uh, the Germans came closer, And they were,; and nothing
happened to them,; they were brought back to Brussels, to Belgium. I found
this out, a couple years later, you know, And I was brought, with many
hundred women, deeper into PFrance, towards Spain.

L.B. Mm hm,

G.,H., And was interned there, And then, after 3, or 3% months, being in theve,
a little longer, I was certainly pregnant,

L.B. Yeah,

G.H. #And then I was lliberated, due to the fact that I was pregnant,

L.B. Well, what 8did liberated mean, then?

G.H., I was out of camp, I was...on @my own.

L.,B, DNow, during all this {ime, did you know where Xurt was at all?

G.H, No, Then,.,.I didn't know, but he found out,,,where I was, and through

the Red Cross, I heard from him, He found out because there was, at this time,
only one woman camp, but there#EERIEES wexe many men,.,camps.
L.B, IMm hm, So when you were 1iberated, what did you do?
G.H, Well,,.and, while I was in camp, my roommate, under..sriew Mel, we uecame
{riendly,hshe was the girlfrlnnd of a Very-known author,in Germany.

B. m,
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G.H, And they lived together in Irance, she was not Jewish,

LB, Im hwm,

G.H. He was Jewlish,

L.B, M¥m hm,

G.H. And,..as a matter of fact, he was not Jewlsh, I'm sorry, he wrote agalus:

Hitler, so he had to,..flee, from Germany., And, being known...he had a name,
they moved to France,

\ L.B, #m hnm, _
Y. G,H, Her name was lHdie, too, You think thde are only 3 rames, Gretel,’
and Bdith.

L.B. {laughs), No.
G.H. So we became friendly, and....and mshe claimed poor health, she wasn'tl
all well, but:%his sick elther, And, uh,..due to this she was liberated,
L.,B, Mm hn,
G.,H. So, we said goodbye, and she said, "Hopefully you'll be liverated soon,
too, and if gyou don't have anywhere to go.,." and she gave me her address,
L.,B. Uh huh,
G.H, And I ended up there, fortunately, and then Kurt escaped, as you knov,
and we lived 11 months with her, amd Tom, my oldest son, was born there,
Did I talk too fast, too much, too...
L.B, Ko, it's a,.,.sometimes you wonder how these things hapren, and how ono
__ survives,.. N o
337" G.H, I suppose there is this word, what's used here,’ . et
L.B. TYeah.
G.H., And I think that's what...
L.B., tated,

® G.H, Hom?
; LnBa F‘atedl .i!

G.H, Oh, definitely, Because, why should I meei, right next to me,..there
were, vh, 70, roughly 70 people in one harrack.

L.,B. Fm hm.

G.Hs Why should this one, next to me, be so nlce? We hit it off imme,..Il mes,
we had so much in common, really, you know,

L,B. Yes, yeah,

G.H. But, um..,.,.we, we really hecame good friends,

L.B. Mm.
G.,H. And when8 she left, and, we could have been someone who had no place ic
go either,

L.B. Right. (Pause), So there's no answer, hm? Now, um..,I'm going to take

you back, if you don't mind?

G.H., Of course, I, I'm sorry if I interrupted you.

L.B, No., No, no, no, There's no oxderx,..you know,,.

G.,H. Ho, but you know,..,

L.B., 4And if we cover, uh, we'll cover..,.and I don't want to kesp you too lons,.,
G.H. No, you don't, but, but if you, if you want to know more...

L.B., My watch stopped,

G.H. ...if, more, want to do some other @itime...it's up to you...

L,B. Ho, no, I would like to know...you said there were a lot of books in your
house. { Yeah, she wantd something to drink. Some.,.wait...)

G.H, Would you join me in a little whiskey, oxr som,..,{Taepe off) eeo I ot ofr
the subject, too,..

L.B. Well, we both do, then that's the way we get the story,

G.H, Yeah, but you see, yeah, this, uh..,

LB, Tellp me, you said there were bools in your house.

G,H., Yah.

L.B. Did your family do a lot of reading?

&
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G.H. HNo, average, mayve, (Fause), No, my mother liked poetry, really, as
matter of fact, something...very dear to her, she left with a neighbor, amd
after mony wyears, His boo# came to me,
L,B, 0Oh, how nice,
G.H. I have it here, in German, naturally,
L.B. Yeah.
4V KLH,
G.H. No it's all right...
If it's too much, then don't drink it...
(Lavghs ). :
I lost my head,
Teah,
Lo
I'm really not a drinker, but...
Why not, I think you deserve it, {Laughter),
Ko, noy, I,..
Um.,.s0 therdwas not too much book reading?
U})l L]
Was there newspaper reading?
Ch yes, definitely.
All right, now, what newspaper was there in the house? Do you know?

t
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~G.H. Well, of course the one which...was in the city, thde were 2, a morniug
4=t paper and an evening paper. They also had a Frankfurt <.+ % which...
L.B., low who read that?
G.H., VWho what?
L.B, VWho read it?
G.H, Ve all 4id,
@ L,B, You all d4id~?
4 G,H, WUell my father, maybe businesswise, was more interested in certain thin s, ..
uh, which did not interest me. Don't forget, too, I was so much younger, yon cea,

L.B, Yeah, I know,

G.H., You know, And, um, there were maga...nagazines, which we had regulari:,

such as, we had here the Time Magazine, the Life Magazine. Uh, my brother-in-iaw

was in a big publishing house, as a matter of fact, you know, this was hisz,..
4% occupation, So, uh, I think the reading consisted more of the iver <l things,

rather than.,.as a whole,,.

L.B. Could your father read Hebrew?

G.H. ©h, I'm sure,

L.B, He could read the prayers. Could your mother?

G.H. I'm sure my mother could,

L.B. ¥m hm,

G.li. My mother came from a much more religious home,.,than my fathexr did,
%,B, lm,

G.H, {Long pause). Yah,

L.B., HNow, was your father interested, uh, in politics, before...

G,H, In what? In...politics?

L,B. Politics, In the sense of following events, as they occurrsd in Gexrmany 7
G,H, I don’t think so, I, I really don't,.,

LB, liow, you lived between, at the end of the War, 1918, you were about 4

years old, so you don't remember very much, And you started school in 1916,
and you were s,..uh, no, no, in 19-,,.
G.H, UNo, later,,,'20 nmaybe.,,.
L,B, I'm sorry, 1920,
@ G.H. All right,
L.B, All reight. And, um...when did the Devpression hit Germany?
G.H, I don't remember,.,
L.B. There was a terrible inflatlon,ihere was a,.,
G.H, I kaow, but I, I don't remember that,
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@ L.B. You don't, none of this mads any impacit on,.,
G.H. Uh, no, only ¢ne, no, ¢nly one thing,
L.,B., There were revolu,,.there was a revolution in Germany, or something liie,,,
G.,H. I, I don't remember this at all, except for one thing, that, um, um, -
had a girl, we had, who,..was with us,..
L.B. Yes, yeah.
G.,H. She picked me up from school one afternoon, it's the only thing I remeriwr,
tyiand I wore a'loden coat, a lod,..a loden cape, a 8cape...
L.B. Yeah.

G.H. And um,,,.we went to a little, a little, a tiny little village, vhero
farmers, uvh, to get some bread.,.and vegetable, that's the only thing 1
remember, and why this loden ca,.,.uh, cape, sticks ouvt in my wind, uh, I
had to held it so no one ecould see what, how much we have, or got, or what.
L.B. How this was, uh, how 0ld were you then? Do you remember?

G.H. I must have been very, very youns, maybe...

L.B. Because Kurt remébers the, uh, inflatione, he remenbers...

G.H, He's 7 years older thon I am, this could make a,,...

L.B, Aaah, yeah,

G.He T really don*t remember anything, I don't remember, um,.,lock, we weran
wealthy peorle, don't misunderstand...

L.B., MNo, no, no,

G.H. DNor do I remember ever any shortage, I mean, there was nothing, uh, ...,
vh,..there was no shortege on focd, sbut, as I said, we weren®t.,.it wasn’:,
in, uh.....(Convers&tiOn with K.H., not releﬁant). So, you know, Lu, we we:no't
wealthy, don't misunderstand, but therew was.,.

L.B. Enough.

G.H, Very comfortable, let's put it this way.

L.B. 8o, as far as you reme.,.you don’t remember the inflation bothering jyour
father at all? It didn't affect you?

G.H, Not at ail, no, not at all, )

L.B, You went to school, everything, as far as you were concined, it was i
perfectly normal, happy 1liBe?

G.H., Absolutely, absolutely.

L.B. HNow, that's not unusual,

G.,H, We travelled {to 1little, uvh, resoris, I mean, vou know, spent vacatior:
there, summers and winters, But not, not Switzerland, within Germany, within
means,

L.,B, lm hm, Now, when you were growing up, you see, um, Kurt's family had one
point of view., Uh, in your family, was there consciousness of being Jewish:

In the family, itself™? :

G.H. Well we were very, we...

L.B., Before, before Hitler? Now think, Not after, or during, but before?

G.H., ¥He wvwere Jewlsh conscien,,.conscliocus, uh?

L.B., Yes,

G.H. Definitely. But, just like other people are consclous of being a, a
Catholic,...or Protestant. That's what we were born, that's what we were, u=
weren't ashamed of being Jewish.

L.B. I hm,

G.H., I wasn't,

L.B, Did y...

514 (tape ends)
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L.B. .,.before,Hitler came to power, ox before, uh, 1930, did you, while vou
were in the lycee, um, and befowe you applied for this, uh, athletic schoo!,
then you felt it?
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G.H, TYah,

L.B, But, while you were going to the lLycée, did you feeli anything?

G,H. HNever, never.

L,B. Did you feel it was disadvantageocus to he a Jew, that you were,..

G.,H, HNot at all,

L.B., Was there wany anti-Semitism?

G.H. I have no bad memories whatsoever, Lu, if you could only imagine whai
was going on in our heouse, from all my Gentiles, friends, from my, uh, wha' do
you call it train.,.uh, coach.,,.

LB, Yes,
G.H, They were iiterally, not literally, they were sitting with us in the roon
cxying...

L..B. No, but this is already when it happened.

G.H., Yeah, this is already...

LB, 1'm talking about before.

G.H, Before, never, I never felt...in any way, left out, as a nmatter of fTazt,
I was included, in, in, in everything, where others, in, in the same way liis
okhers, if that's what you mean,

L.B. Right, yes.

G.H. Oh, absclutely...absolutely,

LB, Uas there ever any question that you might, uh, not marry a Jewish boy?
G.H. UNo, I could've, no.,.no.

L.B. Becanse many Jewish veople did marry non-Jews.

G.,H. No, not many, oh no, no,

L.B. DNe, not that you knew?

G.H. ©h no, it was a big sin,

L.B. Tt was a big sin?

G.H, Do you know, as I told you, my mother came from Bavaria, and this, un,
8, a Tew miles from Nuremburg, it was called Fuerth, where Kissinger comes vy

Fuerth’ « Fuerth, I don't know how you, uh, prouounce it, Feu-, o,

L.B. An umlat.,

G.H. An umlat, -r-t-h, Furth, PFeri, pronounced in German, that's where he cmna
from, And, uh...,thls was a, uh.....uh, th; a nore Orthodox area, than the aorvi
I grew up in,

Ler YES@
G.H. The whole community was much more observing,
LB, Fm hm,

G.H, And, of c,..and thep, of course, of...we visited wmy grandpavents very
often, And, across the street from my parents house, one day 1 see people, I
wag 1ittle, Y was...l saw the people, whom T knew, too, sitiing low, very lou.
You could see from my grand,,.parenis'house into their apariment, aimost, von
know. And I'll never forget this, I asked my mother, "Why are they all siilinrs
low?" So she explalned to me, which I didn't understand, at this time, but ii
was repeated quite often, in the family. Uh, one of their children, neighbors’
children, married out of the religion, and they were sitting shiva.

L.B, Abhh, this was in Furth?

G.H, In Furth. But, uh, it was not, by far not, uh...,.today it's a common
thing,

L.B. Yeah, but I'm talking about when you were growing up.

G.H., Yeah, I could've ma,..

L.B. Vou,..would your par...suppo,..if you had married a non-Jew, it was, oh,
unthinkable? _

G.H., Oh, I couldn't have done it for my...parents, no., I was once in love, [
was on a ski, uh, vacation, with school,

L.B, Um hn,

G.i. Our, my school had, um,,.really a barrack, but, as schools have in, i:
Tyrol, you know,

L.B. ¥m hm,

TOIIN
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G.H., And I fell deeply in love with a ski instructor.,.really, Oh God...(L:
laughs)...I was ready to commit sulcide. lo, I could have never done it.

L,B. Becauge you felt it would have,..r2ally been terrible frp your parveni::
G.H. Chh, yah,

L,B, Did they feel the same way, that there was no disadvaniage to being »
Jeg? I'm talklng about,,.before. They weres, they were perfectly comfortanlc,
li ings e

G.H, MWy father, for instance, had, one night a week, in a,.,like a ‘winekellar, .

L.B. WMm hm,

G.H., And he met his cronles, uh, over a glass of wine, You think I comas fion
a drinking family, maybe?

L.B, Hooo,

G.H., (Mumbles something). No, I mean, they were all gentiles. (Long pause!.
And my sister and brother, as much as 1 remember, they had as many gentile,
non-Jewish frilends, as Jewish friends, more so,

L.B, Was this true, uh, would you, uh, would you thlnk, of most of the city
of Offenbach?

G.,H. Yah,

L.B. Mmm, Jews tend to marry Jews?

G.H. Oh, definitely.

L.B. Yeah,

G.B. Yah,

L.B, Did you get any Jewish education, at all?

G.H. 7Yah, this was compulsory.

L.,B, Where? Compulsory by whom?

G.H., Oh, we had religion within the school day.

L,B, ©Ch, you did?

G.H Ch yes,

L.B. Now, uh, in grammar school.?

G.H., Uh, this I really don't recall. ¥We had, uh, no, I don't think so, But
we had, for instance, every Saturday afternocon, a youlh service,,.and, we nad
to go. And, uh,,.

L.B. This was part of the public school,..curriculum? Or was it something rour
parents made you do?

G,H., lo, thls was, no, this was not, But we had within the public curriculu-,
was religlous ainstruction, While the Catholics had catechianm,.,

LB, Mm hm,

G.H, And the Protestants had, uh, thelr, um, teligious educatlon, so did we,
L.B. 5o a Jew would cfime in to instruct you?

G.,H., O0Oh yes,

LB, And what &€id you learn there, during that time?

G.H. Jewlish history. "

L.B, You learned Jewish history. Did you learn to spe...to read Hebre87
G.H., No, this was separate,.

L.B. HNo...this was separate. Did, vh, and, did you, at any time, ever, havs
that kind of an education?

G.H, Yes,

L,B, Ch, where did you get that?

G.H. After school, in the afternoon, we had, Wednesday. afternoons, we had
Hebrew lessons,

L.B. In your home, OY¥...

G.H, HNo, no, no, in the synagogue,

LB, In theksynagogue.

G.H, Surejias we have,,.

L.B, Yes,

G.H, ...classrooms,

L.B, HNow, was that boys and girls, or just girls? When you weni,

p—
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G.H., I think boys and girls, Of course, the, the boys had a much more intensive
education, to become Bar Mitzvah, naturally.

L.B. Yes,,,mmm,

G,H. But, vh, I think, uh, we were together, and they had, in addition,
Hebrew lessons....to be prepared for Bar Mitzvah,

L,B. Right, so you learned, there you learned to read som: Hebrew?

G,H, Yeah,

L.B. 4And you learned Jewish History in the public scheol?

G.H. 0Ch, yah, this was compulsory.

L.,B. And then, Saturday afterncon, you went, you attended a youth sexrvice?
¥here would this be? In the synagegue...

G,H, 8Synagogue.

L.B, .,.alsa?

G,H., And they had a Torah service, everything.

L.B. 1m hm,

G, H., Hot every week, tmhe Torah service, but, um.,,..S8imchas Torah was a vorr,
very bhig event.,.,the children walked around, you know, much more than here,
L,B., Uh, if I can get back to politics, uh, apparently, um, we...ewere you
interested in political events, at alli? So your life turned around sports s
your friends..,

G, H. Correct,

L.B, And your family,

G.H. Correct.

LB, And school,

G.H. Right.

L.B, Did your parents ever talk about the Russians, at all? Do you know? lo*
that you remember,

- G.H, Ko,

LB, Well, I think, Gretel, that we have, um...,covered Just about everythin .
Did you ever hear, I, I, this is, um...you 8led an interesting life, Did, did
you know what & pogrom was? In your youth, in your €youth,

G.H, Oh, I knew, I knew what 1i was,

L.B. You 4id?

G,H., But we, we didn't have any, Well, in a way...

L.B, How did you know? Whers did you hear aboult a pogrom?

G.H., DRBecause we had people, uh, Jewish people coming from Foland into Germany,
L.B. Ch, now when was this?

G.H. 4And, uh, one of, um, a8 Polish family, who had to leave, or did leave,
settled in Offenbachj and, the davghier was really my, one of my very best friends,
L.B., How, ub, do you remember approximately when this happened? What year?
G.H., ©Ch we, we, we went to school, all the way through school together, so
they could have come, uh, maybe, after World &war I,

L.,B., Yes, What language did she speak? Do you remember?

G.H, Well, they did speak German, but, but a Jewish German, you know, 1t wns
more, Nh,.,

L.B. Mn hm, yeah,

G.H, ...a2 pronounced dlalect,

L.B. Im hm,

G.H, Now, of course, my girlfriend, Fanny, I mean, from the family, she spoke,
i, . ,Well she grew up in Germany, she spoke,...uh, German., So @id her parents,
but, uh, the way I speak English ls the way they spoke,

L.,B., Mm hm. Now, was there any feeling about these Jews who came into Germany
from Poland?

G,H. Yah, I'm sorry to say, there was,

L.,B. There was?

G.B. Yes, wfortunately. X

L.B., HNow, what kind of feeling was thewse?
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G.H, They were not as well accepted, as we were accepted here in this coun:ri.
this I can assure you. And I'm ashamed to say so, but,..I have wet here, uh,

& Tew people,,,in & very nice way we have discussed how much more fortunate

we were, than their pavents were, when thuy came to Germany,

LB, You're talking about non-German Jews, the, either Bussian or Folish Jow -,
or Hungarians, or whatever?

G.H. I'm very sorry to say.

L.B, Now, was it the Jewish community that did not care for them? Do you ln.u i’
G.H, Tnis I really couldn’t, I, I don*t,..T think th@, the German Jews felt
superior, it hurts me to say, but I, I'm, I know that's the way it was,

LB, Imm, Dld your parents share this feeling? Do you know?

G.H. Oh, oh no, not...uh; which, against them?

L.B. Yes.

G.H., No, this I'm ahappy to say. Uh, not, they were...th....7eally very hay: -
that Ednny, Fanny would say, uh, that we were such good friends, they know hex
parents,,,well, and yet, they didn't socialize,

L.B, They did not?

G.H, They had no objectqin,.,

L.B, Yeah,

G.H, ...but they were not in their crowd,

L.B, Unh hvh, well, who was their crowd?

G.H, Who was their crowd? -

L,B, Yeah, the lolish, uh, family's crowd.

G.H, Others who came from there.

L.B. Ah, so they tended to group amongst themselves.
G.H, Yet they attendsd the ser...the same, uh, synagogue, of course, The chiiiren,
uh, certainly did as we did.

L,B, Vas Bthere w a distinction made by the children?
G.i. No, I think by parefits.

L.B. By the parents,

G.H. I mean, children do, more or less, whai the, what the parents, in those
days, told you to do.

L.B, Yes, yeah, well that's why I'm msaying, Now, uh, would the German Jewi:.h
chlldren feel, uh, have bad feelings about the FYolish Jewish children.,.in
general?

G.H, Unh,,.Idon't think that, that they, vh, transmitted to them what they
have heard at home.

L.B, Fimm,

G.,H, Does this make sense?

L.B, Mn hm, So it was dlluted by the time it got down to the childeren?
GH, Yah,

L.B. Is this correct?

G.H. Yah, yah, definitely, .

L.B. But in, but amongst the older people, it was quite strong?

G o}{ . Yah »

LB, Now, did these Yolsish Jews dress differentaéy?

G.H, No,

LB, They did not? Do you remember what Kind of work they did?

G.H., Yeah, they were more in the working, uhhh, laboring, uh, laborers, ycu know,
L.B, Yes,

G.H, And, you know, I don't, I reglly don't feel good talking about it, it
hurts me to say it. You mknow, you have a shoemasker,....,and, um, I mean, they
had to start from the gbeginning., And fortunately...uh, for thoge who had a
trade, tailor.,. :

L.B., Mm hm, {Fause), But, uh, at the same time, they were not ejected, They
were not thrown out of the compmunity?

G.,H. No, no, no, not at 211, not at all,

L.B. Mmm,
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G.H., They were also giben, by all means, the same right like the German .Jewr
had, but they were not accepted in soclety, more or less,
L.B, Yes, yes, mm hn,
G.H. German Jews are not, vou don't have to bhe proud, to Le a German Jew,
bhelieve me,
L.B. I, I guess they're humans, after all, my father couldn't even play v 'ib
the other Russian Jewish boys, if they didn’t #ome from a certain class.
G.H. Yeah, vwell, sure, you mentloned this before,
\ L.B.‘ Yeah, so that you ewouldn't feel uncomfortable, it's the truth.

i GUH, -
L,B, 30, it was almost as much class, as it was nationaiity, and language.
You see; in other worfis, they, not, they not only came from another countr.,
they not only spoke a different kind of German, but they were also of a loue-
economic and soclal class,
G,H, That's right.
L.B, So, all these things, would you say, entered in? Do you know, do you rave
any idea, what it was that was, you know, the,..the, the thing that nmade,.
G,H., Well, you know...,I can say this, but, you see, I think the only plane
in the world is America, where you have 500 diffement nationalities, In Germany
1t was something rare, to hear somebody speaking an improper German,
L.B. Fm hm,
G.H, It was..,..uh; it was just an, almost unacceptable, While here,..,uell,
you listen to me, even if I don't spesk, uh,.,what, no, in general, you krow,
I have a,..no, really, But due to the fact that we hear so¢ many accents here,,.

LB, Mm hm,
G.H, ,..From all over the world,
L.B, lm hn,

G.H, Well, in Germany, you mjust, youdidn't, So, one, who spoke with a bruken,
in a br...in a broken German, you felt, oh, it was so much more noticeahle,
because, ... 3% was not a common thing.

L.B, [imm, »

G.H. (long pause). Um, I told you, quite a while...at the gheginning, thei

a bunch of girls gathered,,.uh, in this home, next week in this one’s home,

we had cookies and,..soda, And, do youw koow.....one group...didn’t wabt me o
belong to ‘them anymore, because Fanny was my glrlfriend. Would you believe tnatf?
L.B., HNow, lthese were Jewish girls?

G.H. Tney were all Jewish girls, yah. Frankly, the Jewish girls bored me; butn
due to the fact that I was so active in spoxt, thrown together and got to inou,
fortunately, uh, they were very, veyy wondexful.,.l only knew wonderful worndl-riui
Germans thers, my contemporaries.

L,B. PFm. But the Jewlsh girls bored you?

G,H., They were, they did.

L.B. All right, this is, that's what I was trying to get at before. What i
they do, or not do, that wred you?

G,H, Uh, to begin with, I think, they were made from home..,from home, beltor,
that they are better than their next-door neighbor.

L.B. ¥Whoever the neighbor was...

G.H. Y&ht

L.B. ..,.whether it was a Jﬂw or a German?

G.H., Yah, Unless thelr father was, uh, uh, the fir,..a very, very known suxrzcon,
you know, this type of thing,

L.B. Yeah. A1l right.

0 ' G.H. And then, for instance, uh....not many, it was not, naturally, not as
common, then, to go to a University, it was...alsc very expensive, I have to

say this, S0 they were sent to Switserland, to a finishing school, this type

of things, It wasn't that I disliked, I didn't care for, they, they Bored me.

You know, and they were, they were overprotected, from home, which I wasn't,
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G.H.cont, at all, I was loved, very much loved by my pavenis, I can asswus
you, But, they let me be me, and they let me do what I wanted to do. As a
matter of fact, they went along. I also wasn't, and XKurt would besr me oui,
I,..l0s8t a litile res,..tvh, some Jewlsh families, um...put pe also on a lowver
level, because I belonged to the Turnverwimed witiersin .

L,B. ¥m hm,

G.H., Do I make myself clesr?

L.B. Yeah, very...very,

G.H. That's a fact.

LB, lm hm,

G.H, BRBut it didn't make my 1life unhappy, I can assure you,

LaBo (Laughs)'

G.H., o, it°s true, Because it was unimportant to me.

L.B. Uhat were their, um...measuring, uh, yardsticks, those families? Wha.
would have to be... ' .

G.H. Yor their daughter to marry the neck surgeon in town, (lLaughter). lic,
this type of thing, I can't exp...(Laughter).

L.B, Very good, So that's what mede them boring, that's what made them borirs,
is that 147

G.H, Of course, of course,

LB, Yeah, this was all they were interested in, status, then, 1is that whot
yodre saying? -
G.,H. To maintain the status, they...wanted to be, yah. We have status her~,
too, now, but, um.,,. Listen, it's most unfortunate what has happened, I don’t
think anybody deserved thls type of an experience in life, deserve, I don‘t {
know...,.maybe it was meant to experience, because, I think they lost thifr...

very dear, good friend, no longer here in Schenedtady...and she, and a feu

years ago,
L,B. How were these German friends, or...

G.H. No, no, I'm talk...this was here in this country.

L.B. Oh, mm hn,

G.H. " Bill" was a year, so I go back 26 years,

L.B., Mm hm,

G.H. &nd, um, we were away for 2 or 3 days; and one afternoon I was togetherv
with this, uh, we were all friends, but fisther and I, we were really very cinse.
And, um,,.we took a, we were up on a sundeck, thls was in Rye, New York,

And, um,,,,.we discussed this, what we just dis...uh, had said before, ihen
they came from® Foland, her parents...the horrible life they had to experienns
in Germany., And so we discussed...how much...1t just isn’t here in this covntry,
L.B. 8o her parenis, your friend's parents, came from Foland, to Germany...

G.H, Through Germany,

L,B. Through Germany?

G.H. And they weren't tolerated at all,
L.B., Mm ba,

G.H. Terrible, texrible.

L.B. And she still remembered it?

G.H. Of course, she must have been, well, she was my age..,,maybe a couple
years older.,..of course, S0, I mean, she wasn't condemning us in any way...
L.B. No, no, but it was something that happened,

G,H, But,..we were talking about the, the receptlon, or ‘he way, the way w2
had a chance to establish, establish ourselves here, compared to her parents®
time, impossible, :

L.B. Mm hm, In Germany.

G.H, In Germany, as a jumplng point, uh, to go on., Yes.

L.,B, HNow, is there anything that you think you might wamt to add, that we haven't
w38 covered?
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G.H. Well, in,..which direction?
L.B., Any, anything...

G.H, well, Toas

L.B., We've talking about the experience, this is what we're focusing on, tie
experience of Jews, and Jewish families, uh, either before the War, or in iiw
time between the Pirst and Second War,

G.H. Well, you know, you see, I do think, it depends a little in which ares

of Garmany you live. My best friend, Gretel Mayerhoff, I don't know if you

know her. She's a friend of ! . And she lived in Bavaria, she was
born, and raised, in Bavaria. Now, shu felt,' s0 much earlier than we felt 1,
She also was active in Turnverside, I think this brought us so close logelhes,
you know, having had the same experience, And where she lived, there uwas, ub,

I think,..uh, a,.,the people living in her smaller cilty, which was smaller than,
it was near Nuremjurg, but smaller than out home town. And, um.,.she said there
wasn't.....uh,; she mdidn't think there was one family, no, they had a few
friends, tvo, but the, the ma,.,.by far the majority of pbple hated, bt decp
down, hated the Jews, There was a hate...her grandparents would remember, hor
greatgrandparents would wemember the, the,..in a different degree, but &

hatene®s always existed there, So she felt it much, much um, earlier, tharn I
did, Now she had to leave the Turnéggﬁiﬁﬁ, coming back to this organization,.,
about 3, 4 years earlier than I had to leave,

L,B., Mn hm,

G,H., {Fause), I\ depends a ilttle on the, individval, also, Now ®he could taxe
it better than her brother, who was 2 years younger,

L.B. Mm hm.

G.,H. When he was s little boy, he felt it so, that he didn't want to go to
s®hool, He was a problem, and in those years, a problem of this kind was &'most
unknown, right?

L.B., lim hm, '

G.H. Today we have to cope, we hear toc much of it, it's entirely differert
world, children...have more problems today, I suppose, than.,.we had. But ie
WaS 8.ese.it, it seems only...he was borxn, with fear, deep-seated.

L,B., And she was a Bavarian?

G.H., She was Bavarian,

L .B . ['Im.

G.H., Well, naturally, as it is known, it, uh, almost orlpinated, well, in a
way, you know,., %

L,B., It did.

G.H. But, my...2s 2 whole, Ilu, my,..our llfee &n our home town has been....iu:,
it sounds odd, but I have very pleasant memories. Like when my cousin, T foid
you, just left...and we were, for 2 weeks, day and night together, 1 mean, the
things which we remlnisced, hard to belleve i1t ever happened,

LB, Mm hm,

G.H, 'hat it could have happened.

L,B. You mean the good things or the bad?

G.H. Oh, the, the, the geod, I mean, naturally we, we discussed sverythires M
but it vias surprising that it could happen, what did happen, because every,
every@Ey was s0 close and good together.

L.B. Fverﬁthing was so good, yeah, (Pause), You know, I think that's a good
place to erd,

354 (Tape ends)
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